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No. 5095223

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent, (Los Angeles County
Superior Court
V. No. A801380)
ROBERT MAURICE BLOOM,

Defendant and Appellant.

APPELLANT’S REPLY BRIEF

INTRODUCTION

As shown in the opening brief, the record on appeal contains substantial
evidence that appellant suffers from a complex constellation of psychological,
psychiatric, developmental, social, and cognitive deficits arising from serious
mental illness and moderate-to-severe brain damage. The evidence identifying
these deficits, their causes, and the difficulties they caused in appellant’s life
is compelling in its breadth and its depth based in part on historical records,
including psychiatric, educational, and medical records predating the crimes
at issue in this case; expert psychiatric opinions based upon evaluations of
appellant conducted before the crimes occurred, evaluations conducted
contemporaneously with appellant’s first trial, and evaluations conducted
thereafter, including leading up to the trial at issue here; and consistent
neuropsychological testing over two separate courses of testing, showing

severe brain impairment and cognitive deficits.




The appellate record includes evidence of specific brain trauma suffered
by appellant in utero and/or at age two; an overwhc;lming consensus of
approximately eight mental health experts that appellant was seriously
mentally ill and cognitively impaired; appellant’s history of responsiveness to
antipsychotic medications indicating an underlying psychotic process; and
appellant’s discontinuation of antipsychotic medication leading up to and
throughout the trial proceedings.

The extensive mental health evidence was critical to understanding a
number of issues in this case. These included appellant’s mental‘ state at the
time of the crimes; whether appellant was sane at the time of the commission
of each of the homicides; whether he was competent to stand trial, waive his
presence, and represent himself at the penalty phase; and the validity of the
withdrawal of his pleas of not guilty by reason of insanity (hereafter “NGI”)
to Counts Two and Three after the jury was unable to return unanimous
verdicts on that plea.

The issues revolving around questions of appellant’s competence and
the rationality of his understanding and decision-making were further affected
by critical occurrences during the trial proceedings. These included: first,
defense counsel repeatedly warned the trial court that counsel had serious
concerns about appellant’s competence; second, Dr. Vicary warned that, due
to the nature of appellant’s impairments, appellant might “snap” under the
pressure of trial, affecting the rationality of his thought processes; third,
defense counsel eventually had to declare a doubt that appellant was
competent, finally representing to the court that appellant’s ability to cooperate
rationally with counsel, which had always been margirial, had significantly
changed around the time appellant was absent from the courtroom during the

sanity phase; fourth, the jury was unable to reach unanimous verdicts as to
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sanity on Counts Two and Three, with three jurors convinced by a
preponderance of evidence that appellant was insane during the commission
of the homicides on those two counts; and finally, appellant irrationally
withdrew his NGI plea, a decision which defense counsel refused to endorse.

After appellant was allowed to represent himself for the penalty phase,
consideration of the evidence of appellant’s mental illness, developmental
disability, and brain damage continued to be crucial to a reasoned evaluation
of appellant’s peculiar behavior in preparing for the penalty phase, his bizarre,
inappropriate and irrational behavior in representing himself during the penalty
phase, and his refusal to cooperate with Dr. Sharma.

Despite the weight of the evidence establishing appellant’s multiple
mental and cognitive impairments, and their relevance to the capital
prosecution, respondent is largely dismissive of the evidence, barely
addressing the details of it, mischaracterizing its effect on the jury, and relying
instead on the constitutionally flawed 1983 trial and 1984 competence hearing
at which none ofthe relevant evidence was presented due to appellant’s former
defense counsel’s inadequate representation.

In doing so, respondent repeats a number of flawed arguments.
Appellant addresses these repeated arguments here, and incorporates this
common reply in the relevant arguments as appropriate.

In Argument I.C.1. of respondent’s brief, respondent raises a novel
argument contending that appellant is due no relief on appeal from errors
which resulted in prejudice to the mental health defenses because “appellant

specifically repudiated the mental defense in the trial court.” (RB 46.)' From

! As in the opening brief, “CT” refers to the clerk’s transcript on
appeal, preceded by the volume number. “RT” refers to the reporter’s
(continued...)




this, repondent concludes that “Now that the veil has been lifted on appellant’s
trial defense strategy, and appellant has declared the mental defense a ruse, the
Constitution cannot support reversal of his convictions based, effectively, on
claims that his ability to mislead the jury with that defense was impermissibly
restricted.” (RB 47.) Respondent repeats this mantra in Arguments III (RB
74, fn. 48), IV (RB 80, fn. 51), IX (RB 144, fn. 68), X (RB 150, fn. 74) and XI
(RB 153, fn. 75).

Respondent’s reasoning is apparently that appellant’s treatment of the
mental health evidence while representing himself during the penalty phase
somehow transformed a/l of the expert opinion presented, whether in
testimony or declarations, into false or fabricated evidence, to be ignored in
assessing appellant’s claims of error. (RB 47.) However, while respondent
cites various cases for the lack of protection for false or fabricated evidence,
no authority is provided for the proposition that the evidence presented by
defense counsel in pretrial proceedings (see, e.g., 2CT 278-401; 3CT 452-
527), and to the jury at the guilt phase and sanity phase (Drs. Watson, Mills,
Vicary, and Wolfson), becomes “false” or “fabricated” evidence by
proclamation of a mentally ill, developmentally disabled, brain-damaged, and

cognitively impaired defendant unable to recognize his own impairments and

' (...continued)

transcript, preceded by the volume number. “ICPRT” refers to a separate
volume of the Reporter’s Transcript containing transcripts of sealed in camera
proceedings. “Marsden RT” refers to a separate volume of the Reporter’s
Transcript containing transcripts of sealed proceedings pursuant to People v.
Marsden (1970) 2 Cal.3d 118 (“Marsden”). Those sealed transcripts, or
portions thereof, as well as certain confidential documents contained in
Volume 25 of the Clerk’s Transcript which are referred to in this brief, have
been unsealed for that purpose pursuant to an order of this Court filed August
11, 2010.



deficits.

The mental health evidence presented by defense counsel explained and
accounted for appellant’s denial and non-recognition of his mental illness, and
included the conclusion that his denial of mental illness was not evidence that
he was not mentally ill, but was a symptom of and a common reaction among
the seriously mentally ill.

Dr. Mills testified that all the reports of the mental health experts who
evaluated appellant, with the possible exception of one, contained indications
that appellant denied that he was mentally ill. (26RT 3163-3164.) Yet, the
overwhelming consensus of the psychologists and psychiatrists was that
appellant was mentally ill, and had some significant brain damage. (See, e.g.,
35RT 4399, 4434.) Dr. Vicary testified that the inability of an individual to
recognize his mental illness was common among the mentally ill: “I would say
that the vast majority of people that are truly seriously mentally ill will tell you
that they are not. [{] If they could tell you that they were, I mean, it would be
on the way to recovery. So it is more common that they deny it than they
admit it.” (28RT 3448; see also 28RT 3499-3500.)

Furthermore, such a failure, or inability, to recognize or acknowledge
mental illness or brain damage is consistent with and symptomatic of the
nature of appellaht’s brain damage. Anatomical damage to the brain,
especially the right hemisphere, which is where Dr. Watson concluded
appellant’s brain damage is primarily located (see 22RT 2732-2733, 2752,
2767), may result in a condition known as anasognosia, which prevents the
patient from recognizing the problems they have as a result of that very
damage to the brain.

It is not only difficult, it is impossible for patients with certain
right-hemisphere syndromes to know their own problems - a




peculiar and specific ‘anosognosia’.... And it is singularly
difficult, for even the most sensitive observer, to picture the
inner state, the ‘situation’ of such patients, for this is almost
unimaginably remote from anything he himself has ever known.

(Oliver Sacks, The Man Who Mistook His Wife for a Hat (1998) p. 5; see also
Backgrounder: Anosognosia (updated 5/29/2013) Treatment Advocacy Center
(www.treatmentadvocacycenter.org).)

Respondent’s underlying argument, that reliance on evidence that
appellant personally labeled as fabricated or a trick conflicts with the truth-
seeking function of the trial process, is misguided in this context. Notably,
appellant’s right to represent himself, which he successfully invoked for the
penalty phase at which he made the statements upon which respondent now
seeks to rely, has little to do with the truth-seeking function of a trial or with
insuring a reliable fact-finding process and a corresponding proportional and
reliable verdict. The truth-seeking trial touted by respondent is not advanced
by allowing a mentally ill and cognitively impaired defendant to remove from
consideration compelling and relevant evidence of his own mental illness and
cognitive impairments which he cannot recognize.

Respondent advances no other basis than appellant’s own statements for
rejecting the reliability of the mental health evidence, and none appeatrs in the
record. Respondent relies, inter alia, on appellant’s claim that he malingered
in Dr. Watson’s neuropsychological testing in 1999-2000.> (RB 46; 44RT
5353.) Appellant, of course, was unable to explain how he malingered in a
way that had any effect on the validity of that testing. Appellant addressed this

issue in the opening brief, demonstrating that appellant’s claim of malingering

2 Appellant did not remember if he malingered in Dr. Watson’s original
testing in 1993. (44RT 5353.)



is unsupported by the record and refuted by the testimony of Drs. Watson,
Mills, and Vicary. Their testimony makes it abundantly clear that even if
appellant tried to malinger, he failed to undermine the validity of the testiﬁg.
Not only did Dr. Watson test for malingering with negative results in his later
administration of testing, but the results in the earlier and later administrations
were substantially similar. Moreover, both Dr. Watson and Mills testified that
the neuropsychological tests administered were extremely difficult to fake.
(AOB 171-173.)

Additionally, the record demonstrates that the prosecution retained an
expert neuropsychologist, Dr. Brooks, who had been provided with the raw
data from all of Dr. Watson’s testing of appellant, and who sat in the
courtroom during Dr. Watson’s testimony. Yet, the prosecution never
presented any evidence that the raw data showed anything other than the
results about which Dr. Watson testified in providing his conclusions ahd
opinions to the jury. Dr. Brooks never testified, nor was any report by Dr.
Brooks ever submitted to the trial court. (AOB 152-153.) The reliability and
credibility of the testing and of Dr. Watson’s conclusions have been
demonstrated to a high degree of confidence. Appellant’s attempt,
unsupported by any evidence other than his own unreliable belief that he did
not have any mental illness or brain damage, to undermine confidence in that
testing and Dr. Watson’s testimony and opinions fails resoundingly.

There are multiple bases for rejecting respondent’s proposed dismissal
of the expert opinion evidence in this case, not the least of which is that the
expert opinion before the trial court, combined with defense counsel’s repeated
representations concerning appellant’s mental state throughout the
proceedings, culminating in counsel’s declarations of doubt that appellant was

competent to stand trial, and combined further with appellant’s own behavior,
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throughout these proceedings established a reasonable doubt of appell‘a‘nt’s
competence to stand trial. (See AOB Args. III-VIIL) A claim by a mentally
ill and brain-damaged defendant that the expert mental health consensus that
he is mentally ill and brain-damaged is false and fabricated is not a valid basis
to overcome that substantial doubt. As this Court recognized in a slightly
different context after appellant’s opening brief was filed:

The decision of a possibly incompetent defendant not to contest
the issue of his or her own competence is entitled to no such
credit. Indeed, such a decision ought to be considered inherently
suspect, especially when, as in the instant case, the evidence
before the court is in conflict regarding the defendant’s mental
competence. (Cf. People v. Samuel (1981) 29 Cal.3d 489, 495,
174 Cal.Rptr. 684, 629 P.2d 485 [“[I]f counsel represents a
defendant as to whose competence the judge has declared a
doubt sufficient to require a section 1368 hearing, he should not
be compelled to entrust key decisions about fundamental matters
to his client’s apparently defective judgment.”]; Bundy v.
Dugger (11th Cir. 1987) 816 F.2d 564, 566, fn. 2 [“Whether the
defendant believed he was competent to stand trial is irrelevant
for, if a defendant is incompetent to stand trial, his belief that he
is able to do so is without import.”].)

(People v. Lightsey (2012) 54 Cal.4th 668, 697.)

Similarly, the evidence respondent seeks to remove from consideration
supports appellant’s argument that it was error to grant appellant’s request to
represent himself at the penalty phase (AOB Arg. VI) at which appellant made
the statements upon which respondent now seeks to rely.

In addition, the supposed repudiation was not as clear as respondent
suggests: During the penalty phase, appellant took inconsistent positions, e.g.,
asking to reinstate his NGI plea (see Arg. V), declaring a doubt of his own
competence (44RT 5447-5448), and asking to reinstate counsel (see Arg. VI).

He also had Dr. Lisak, one of the experts whose declaration defense counsel



had submitted to the trial court pretrial (2CT 340-385), on his penalty phase
witness list.” |

Appellant distanced himself from his trial lawyers’ presentation at the
start of and during the penalty phase of trial. Given that the jury found
appellant guilty of first and second degree murder and found him sane at the
time of his father’s murder, such a strategy is not surprising. Respondent cites
no authority for the implicit premise that acceding to the reality of the jury’s
findings, and conceding guilt, waives all guilt phase errors or renders them
harmléss.

There is no indication that appellant’s purported “repudiation” of the
defense mental health case was an informed, knowing, and intelligent waiver
of appellate review of the guilt verdicts on all three counts and the sanity
verdict on Count One. No one informed appellant that his statements might
act as such a waiver or forfeiture of rights; no one even suggested the
possibility. There is no indication that appellant understood such to be the
case, nor that he intended any such waiver or forfeiture. To apply such a
sanction at this point would be nothing less than exploitation of a mentally and
cognitively impaired defendant.

Aside from the attempt to remove the mental health evidence from
consideration, respondént is inconsistent throughout the brief in characterizing
the defense mental health evidence. In some instances, respondent refers to the
defense mental health case as “robust.” (Arg. I, RB 49; Arg. II, RB 72; Arg.
XI, RB 159; Argument XII, RB 169.) In other instances, respondent refers to

the same evidence as “uncompelling” and “far from convincing” (Arg. II, RB

3 Appellant was unable to present Dr. Lisak as a penalty phase witness
due to scheduling problems. (46RT 5668-5669.)
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72), “did not present a close issue” and “wholly unconvincing” (Arg. III, RB
79). Respondent also attempts to sidestep the evidence by relying on
appellant’s “repudiation” of the mental health evidence, as discussed above.
Respondent also claims that “the jury rejected the mental defense at the
guilt phase.” (RB 169.) Respondent does not explain this rather extraordinary
~ conclusion, which is not supported by the record. Unlike the first trial, the jury
here was unable to reach a verdict on the charge of first degree rqurder as to
Counts Two and Three, and only reached a unanimous verdict of second
degree murder on those two counts after the prosecutor conceded and
withdrew consideration of first degree murder from the deliberations. (24 CT
6213-6215.) Respondent does not explain how that constitutes a rejection of
the defense mental health evidence. In fact, elsewhere, respondent
acknowledges that the jury’s difficulty in reaching a verdict on those two
counts was centered around the determination of appellant’s mental state at the
time. (See RB 73.)
Respondent describes the evidence supporting ap;;ellant’s NGl pleas as
“appellant’s highly dubious theory regarding sanity” (RB 181), without
“acknowledging that after deliberations focusing solely on the mental health
evidence, the jury had difficulty reaching a unanimous verdict on Count One
and was unable to reach a unanimous verdict on Counts Two and Three, with
three jurors finding that appellant had proved by a preponderance of the
evidence that he was insane at the time of those two homicides.
Respondent’s attempt to dismiss the defense mental health evidence as
unconvincing or uncompelling and not having presented a close case is on its
face a mischaracterization of the record in this case and should be rejected by
this Court at every iteration. Certainly, the jury disagreed with respondent.

At a number of points in respondent’s brief, respondent benignly
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dismisses various decisions, statements, or behaviors by appellant as merely
“foolish,” “misguided,” “unwise” or “eccentric.” (RB 109, 135, 140, 141, 150,
169-170.) Given the substantial mental health evidence explaining appellant’s
multiple impairments, such a characterization of his irrational behavior and
decisions is an unwarranted trivialization of appellant’s impairments and of a
substantial flaw in this trial and in the trial court’s inappropriate and
constitutionally inadequate treatment of this impaired defendant.

Even if an apparently intelligent defendant continually making foolish,
unwise decisions or statements, or behaving eccentrically, without more, might
not provide reason to entertain a reasonable doubt of his competence, that is
not the case here. Here, in the context of a substantial amount of expert
opinion, based upon a substantial documentary record as well as expert
evaluations and neuropsychological testing, that the defendant is mentally ill,
brain-damaged, developmentally disabled, and cognitively impaired, the same
decisions and statements may no longer reasonably be interpreted as nothing
more than foolish, misguided, unwise, or eccentric. Respondent’s repeated
attempts to analyze specific isolated points by wrenching them out of the
context of other evidence raising a doubt of appellant’s competence to stand
trial must be rejected at every point.

In .the arguments regarding competence (RB 132, 138), withdrawal of
the NGI pleas (RB 159, 165), and self-representation at penalty phase (RB
169), respondent references the trial court’s “finding” that defense counsel’s
declaration of a doubt during sanity deliberations about whether appellant
remained competent was “a strategic plan.” (45RT 5393.) That “finding” is
unsupported by the record, and of no help to respondent. It demonstrates the
trial court’s arbitrary disregard of any evidencq relating to appellant’s

competence which conflicted with the trial court’s own preconceived (and
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factually flawed) notions of present mental competence or her definition of
mental illness.*

First, neither the trial court nor respondent identifies what the “strategic
plan” supposedly was or how it diminishes the credibility or importance of
counsel’s declaration of a doubt, especially given counsel’s numerous
warnings prior to that point about appellant’s mental incompetence. (Cf.
Drope v. Missouri (1975) 420 U.S. 162, 177, fn.13.)

Second, the record reveals that the trial court made that “finding”
during the penalty phase, affer defense counsel had been relieved, and without
giving defense counsel an opportunity to respond.

Third, the record upon which the trial court based that finding does not
support the trial court’s recitation of the relevant facts. The record establishes
the following:

Defense counsel’s declaration of a doubt as to appellant’s competence
occurred when he had appellant brought into the courtroom the day that the
jury began deliberations in the sanity phase. Counsel stated “I think there have
been substantial changes in the last couple of days with Mr. Bloom and at this

point I will declare a doubt.” (36RT 4523 (emphasis added).)

* E.g, in addressing the death qualification of a prospective juror, the
trial court stated: |

I hardly think I would call [hearing voices] a substantial mental
illness. I would hardly think I would call that substantial. I read
that in so many psychiatric reports which are far from the issue
of sanity or insanity. But I just read one today coming up on a
sentencing where he hears voices and I don't think that falls
under substantial. Hearing voices - there’s too many that hear
voices.

(10RT 1258; see also AOB 413-415.)
12



The trial court inquired how much time defense counsel had spent in the
lockup, stating that appellant had not been present in court during the
proceedings and that the court did not think defense counsel had had much
time to observe appellant. Defense counsel responded:

One, I’'m observing him now. But I went in yesterday
twice, I saw him this morning and I saw him right after the jury
went out.

And my view, again without going into great detail, my
view is he was marginally competent for the entire proceedings,
just the unique circumstances of this case that I didn’t need him
in terms of cooperation with counsel to provide me with a lot of
information.

We have gone through extraordinary measures to deal
with Mr. Bloom. The Court is aware of many of these
measures. My view is there’s been a change. He - I just do not
feel he’s able to cooperate at this point with counsel and I
believe it is due to a mental illness.

(36RT 4524.) No indication was given by anybody at the time that cast any
doubt on the veracity of defense counsel’s representations regarding his
interactions with appellant outside the courtroom during the relevant time.

Yet during the penalty phase, after defense counsel had been dismissed,
and without giving defense counsel any opportunity to respond, the trial court
remarked:

At the time that [defense counsel] raised the 1368 question
towards the end of the sanity plea just out of the blue when he
had only had five or so minutes to observe Mr. Bloom, I asked
him at that time how he could have formed such an opinion

since he had been with him only a few minutes. . . . so it
appeared to me to be a strategic plan on behalf of the defense
counsel.

(45RT 5393 (emphasis added).)

The trial court’s factual recitation is diametrically at odds what defense
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counsel actually told the judge. Defense counsel saw appellant four separate
times (twice in the day before he declared a doubt and twice the day he
declared a doubt). Further, the trial court’s “facts” about the quality of
counsel’s interactions with appellant outside the court’s presence could not
have been known by the court. Nor does any basis for ignoring counsel’s
representation regarding those facts appear on the record.

Moreover, the trial court’s characterization of counsel’s declaration of
a doubt as coming “just out of the blue” is inconsistent with the record given
counsel’s repeated warnings of concern about appellant’s competence (see
AOB 150-151, 178, fn. 62), as well as the trial court’s own prior
acknowledgment of the ability of the defense team to keep appellant calm
throughout the trial proceedings (see 28RT 3498) and a possible breakdown
in the attorney-client relationship (15RT 1941; see also Marsden RT 3037).
In addition, the trial court had heard Dr. Vicary’s opinion of the possibility that
appellant might “snap” under the pressure of the trial proceedings. (AOB 157-
158.)

The factual basis of the trial court’s “finding” of a “strategic plan” is
unsupported by the factual record, and affirmatively contradicted by it. The
“finding” cannot be credited, and no deference is due to it, even under an
abuse of discretion standard. It provides no support for respondent’s
arguments.

The arguments in this reply are numbered to correspond to Appellant’s
Opening Brief rather than to respondent’s re-ordering of those arguments in
respondent’s brief. Appellant does not reply to those of respondent’s
contentions that are adequately addressed in his opening brief. The absence
of a reply by appellant to any particular contention or allegation made by

respondent, or a failure to reassert any particular point made in his opening
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brief, does not constitute a concession, abandonment, or waiver of the point by
appellant (see People v. Hill (1992) 3 Cal.4th 959, 995, fn. 3), but rather
reflects appellant’s view that the issue has been adequately presented and the

positions of the parties fully joined.
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Argument Cross-Reference Table
For the Court’s convenience, appellant provides this table identifying

the applicable argument in respondent’s brief for each of appellant’s

arguments:
Opening and Reply Brief Corresponding Respondent’s
Argument Brief Argument
I | I
I I1
I v
\Y XI
\Y X1
VI XII
VII IX
VIII - X
IX 14Y
X 111
XI A%
XII VI
XIII VII
X1V XV
XV XV
XVI XVI
XVII XVII
XVIII XVIII
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ARGUMENT
L

PROCEEDING WITH APPELLANT’S RETRIAL VIOLATED HIS
STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

Appellant argued that his retrial in 2000 following the reversal of his
1983 convictions and death sentence on the ground of ineffective assistance
of counsel violated his constitutional rights because critical evidence was lost,
and inadequately examined former testimony was used against him, preventing
the presentation of an effective defense, while the prosecution unfairly
capitalized on the delay and loss of evidence, subverting the reliability of the
retrial.  (AOB 71-86.) Respondent answers (1) that it is “premature” to
address ineffective assistance of appellant’s current counsel (RB 45); (2)
appellant waived all claims concerning his entire mental state defense by
insisting in the penalty phase after he discharged counsel that the defense was
a fraud perpetrated by his attorneys (RB 46-47); and (3) the trial court properly
refused to dismiss the case or take any other measures to remedy the prejudice
caused by his original attorneys’ constitutionally deficient representation (RB
47-50). Respondent also contends the trial court properly admitted the former
testimony of Christine Waller and Martin Medrano and that references to prior
proceedings did not violate section 1180 or appellant’s federal constitutional
rights. (RB 50-54.)

A, Appellant’s Claim that Trial Counsel were Precluded
from Providing Effective Assistance of Counsel is
Properly Raised on Direct Appeal

Respondent contends that “to the extent appellant’s claim is premised
on the ineffective assistance of his attorneys at the retrial — because their
investigation and preparation was hampered by the prior deficient performance

of appellant’s attorney at the initial trial — the claim is better addressed on
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habeas corpus.” (RB 45.) People v. Mendoza Tello (1997) 15 Cal.4th 264,
266-67, on which respondent relies, explains that a claim of ineffective
assistance of counsel is properly raised on habeas corpus when “the record on
appeal sheds no light on why counsel acted or failed to act in the manner
challenged.”

The argument in this appeal, however, is not that current trial counsel
failed to represent appellant effectively at his retrial but that they were
prevented from doing so by the rulings of the trial court. (People v. Sixto
(1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 374 [appellant’s claim was not that his current trial
counsel was ineffective but rather that the trial court “fail{ed] to rectify
counsel’s inability to make up for the deficient performance” of prior
counsel].) Trial counsel explained below the problem they faced — the loss of
critical evidence because of the previous attorneys’ ineffectiveness —and asked
the trial court to dismiss the case or at least to take remedial measures, such as
limiting the maximum offense, precluding the death penalty, or other steps to
ensure that appellant could have the fair trial and reliable result denied him by
the transgressions of his original trial counsel, and to ensure that those orfginal
transgressions did not have a continuing prejudicial effect on his ability to
attain justice. (AOB 72-73.)

Because both the error — the trial court’s refusal to dismiss the case or
take any remedial measures whatsoever — and the resulting prejudice — the loss
of crucial evidence and the prosecution’s exploitation of that loss to bolster its
case — are clear in the appellate record, the issue is properly raised on direct

appeal.

18



B. The Trial Court’s Refusal to Take Any Steps to Stem
the Prejudice from Original Counsel’s Ineffective
Representation Deprived Appellant of Due Process,
Effective Assistance of Counsel, and a Fair Trial

1. Appellant’s Purported Repudiation of
the Mental Defense Below was
Symptomatic of his Mental Illness, and
Did Not Constitute a Waiver of His
Rights to Present a Defense and to a
Fair Trial

As discussed more fully in the Introduction, ante, appellant’s denial that
he is mentally ill is, in fact, symptomatic of his mental illness and cognitive
impairments and further evidence of his incompetence to stand trial. Nothing
about his denial of his impairments justifies withholding appellate relief for
errors prejudicial to the defense presentation of compelling mental health
evidence unquestionably relevant to appellant’s mens rea defense and to his
pleas of NGI.

2. The Trial Court Improperly Denied
Appellant’s Motion to Dismiss or for
Curative Measures

Relying on People v. McDowell (2012) 54 Cal.4th 395,41 3, respondent
argues there is no legal authority for dismissing a case due to delay that “is
primarily attributable to the appellate process and defendant’s collateral attack
on his conviction and sentence.” (RB 48.)

As an initial matter, McDowell is distinguishable because this Court
found that McDowell did “not argue a due process violation separate from his
speedy right (sic) claim.” (McDowell, supra, 54 Cal.4thatp.413,fn. 17.) The
court rejected the speedy trial claim, holding that the defendant’s speedy trial
right was not triggered until his petition for habeas corpus was granted. (/d.

at p. 415.) Concluding that the delay of ten months between the issuance of
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a writ ordering a new penaity trial and McDowell’s first penalty retrial was not
“presumptively prejudicial,” the Court never reached the other factors in the
speedy trial analysis, including prejudice to the defendant’s ability to present
a defense. (Ibid.) Thus, while McDowell held there was no speedy trial
violation in that case, it did not rule out the claim appellant presents here — that
his due process right to present a defense and his Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendment rights to a fair trial were violated by the trial court’s failure to
take any steps whatsoever to remedy the impact of the loss of material defense
evidence due to the constitutional error in appellant’s fn"st trial.

Respondent further argues that no other remedial measures were
required under People v. Sixto (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 374, because, in this
case, as in Sixto, “appellant’s retrial counsel . . . were able to present
‘significant new evidence not presented at the first trial.”” (RB 49, quoting
Sixto, supra, 17 Cal.App.4th at p. 396.) Although the testimony of Drs.
Naham and Kling was lost due to the ““deliberate pace’ of the appellate and
collateral review process,” respondent reasons, it was “replaced by the
opinions of numerous expert witnesses.” (RB 49, quoting McDowell, supra,
54 Cal.4th at p. 413.)

This ignores that the prosecution sought systematically to discredit the
testimony of the other defense experts on the ground that they had examined
appellant many years after the crime. (See AOB 78-80, citing 32RT 4106-
4108 [prosecution arguing tests were of “little value” and should be
disregarded because they “were given much too late”].) In cross-examination
and argument, the prosecution exploited the delay in appellant’s case to attack
the validity of his defense on retrial. (AOB 78-80.) As aresult, appellant was
prejudiced not only by the loss of exculpatory evidence during the “ordinary

deliberate pace” (RB 49), of the appellate and collateral review process but
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also by the prosecution turning the absence of that evidence into an offensive
weapon, which it used against appellant to secure convictions and a death sentence.

The prosecution thus benefitted not once but twice from the delay and
loss of defense evidence — first, because the defense case was weakened by the
loss of compelling, contemporaneous evidence concerning appellant’s mental
state and second, because the prosecution capitalized on that the absence of a
more contemporaneous psychological examination by positing via cross-
examination and argument that it necessarily fatally undermined the validity
of the entire defense.

Even if dismissal was not required based solely on the loss of material,
exculpatory evidence, due process at a minimum precluded the prosecution
from benefitting in this manner from the constitutional errors at appellant’s
first trial.

Respondent argﬁes that loss-of-evidence cases such as California v.
Trombetta (1984) 467 U.S. 479, are inapplicable here because the evidence in
this case was not lost as a result of bad-faith government misconduct. (RB
48.) So-called loss-of-evidence cases deal not only with bad faith misconduct
by the government, however, but also with good faith conflicts between
competing government objectives: prosecuting a criminal defendant while also
enforcing immigration laws (United States v. Valenzuela—Bernal (1982) 458
U.S. 858, 869-870, 873-874), protecting the identity of confidential informants
(Roviaro v. United States (1957) 353 U.S. 53, 60-61); protecting the
confidentiality of reports prepared by government witnesses (Jencks v. United
States (1957) 353 U.S. 657, 671-672); or protecting classified information
from disclosure (United States v. Moussaoui (4th Cir. 2004) 382 F.3d 453,
474, United States v. Fernandez (4th Cir. 1990) 913 F.2d 148, 154).

In all such “cases falling into ‘what might loosely be called the area of
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constitutionally guaranteed access to evidence,’ [citation] the Supreme Court
has held that the defendant’s right to a trial that comports with the Fifth and
Sixth Amendments prevails” over competing government interests. (United
States v. Moussaoui, supra, 382 F.3d at p. 474, quoting Arizona v. Youngblood
(1988) 488 U.S. 51, 55.) The trial court must therefore order disclosure or
other remedies necessary to protect the defendant’s constitutional rights to
present a defense and to a fair trial, and if the government refuses to comply,
the case may be dismissed. (/d. at p. 476.)

The court of appeal in Sixto thus correctly held that, in a case like this,
where ev1dence has been lost due to the meffectlveness of prior counsel, it
similarly may be necessary for the trial court to take additional curative
measures to safeguard the defendant’s federal constitutional rights to present
a defense and to a fair trial. (People v. Sixto, supra, 17 Cal. App.4th at pp. 381,
399, citing Crane v. Kentucky (1986) 476 U.S. 683, 690 and Valenzuela-
Bernal, supra, 458 U.S. at p. 872.) While the court of appeal ultimately found
no error in the trial court’s denial of remedial measures in Sixto, that ruling
turned on the specific measures the defendant requested. (/d. at pp. 400-402.)
Signficantly, the trial court in Sixto offered to take steps to prevent the
prosecution from unfairly benefitting from the ineffectiveness of Sixto’s
original counsel and the resulting loss of evidence. (/d. at pp. 391, 402.) The
defendant’s original attorneys had failed to test a sample of Sixto’s blood for
alcohol, and the sample was subsequently lost; original counsel had also failed
to perform a time-sensitive test on the defendant that might have disclosed the
presence of PCP. The trial court proposed to bar the prosecution from arguing
that the defense should have run its own tests to support an intoxication
defense and to instruct the jury that it should not hold the loss of evidence

against the defense. (/d. at pp. 391-392.) Sixto rejected these measures,
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demanding alternative instructions that the trial court and court of appeal
found too argumentative. (Id. at pp. 399-402.)

In this case, the trial court refused to take any remedial measures and
gave the prosecution carte blanche to exploit the delay and resulting loss of
evidence to its advantage. As aresult, appellant was denied his right to present
a defense and his right to a fair trial and sentencing.

Respondent relegates to a footnote any further discussion of the curative
measures short of dismissal that the defense sought to safeguard appellant’s
right to a fair trial. (RB 50, fn. 33.) Respondent contends that the instruction
appellant requested, directing the jury not to consider the passage of time
between the murders and the experts’ examinations of appellant “would simply
have been argumentative and misleading, since the passage of time was
unquestionably relevant to a fair assessment of the experts’ opinions.” (/bid.)

To the contrary, the instruction requested was necessary to prevent the
prosecution from unfairly benefitting from the loss of evidence due to original
counsel’s ineffectiveness. The remedial instruction was made critical by the
prosecution’s injection of the issue into the case. Without the affirmative
cross-examination and affirmative argument by the prosecution, the risk of
harm would have been greatly reduced.

The high court has held that similar prosecution tactics violate due
process. In Simmons v. South Carolina (1994) 512 U.S. 154, 157, the
prosecutors argued that the defendant posed a future danger to society,
suggesting that he might someday be released from prison. In fact, the
prosecution knew thaf Simmons would not be eligible for parolé, but
nevertheless vigorously opposed defense requests to so instruct the jury. (/d.
at pp. 158-159.) The high court concluded “[t]he State thus succeeded in

securing a death sentence on the ground, at least in part, of petitioner’s future
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dangerousness, while at the same time concealing from the sentencing jury the
true meaning of its noncapital sentencing alternative, namely, that life
imprisonment meant life without parole. We think it is clear that the State
denied petitioner due process.” (Id. atp. 161.)

Similarly, in this case, the prosecution attacked the validity of the
mental state defense on the ground that the defense experts had examined
appellant too long after the fact, and their conclusions were therefore invalid.
(AOB 78-89.) The prosecution knew full well that the only reason competent
contemporaneous evaluations were not available was due to the ineffectiveness
of appellant’s original court-appointed counsel. The prosecution also knew,
from the habeas corpus proceedings, that the defense experts who were no
longer available would have testified, once properly prepared, “that Bloom
suffers from a mental disease which affected his ability to appreciate the nature
of his acts at the time of the murders.” (Bloom v. Calderon (9th Cir. 1997) 132
F.3d 1267, 1274.)

Moreover, in the absence of a corrective instruction, the jury was
invited instead to assume that any more contemporaneous information about
appellant’s mental state was not presented because it was unfavorable to the
defense. As in Simmons, the prosecution was therefore allowed to exploit the
jury’s lack of information, distorting the truth-seeking function of the trial.

This Court stressed in McDowell that the appellate process is for the
defendant’s benefit — “a constitutional safeguard based on the desire of state
and federal courts to explore any argument that possibly could save
defendant’s life.” (McDowell, supra, 54 Cal.4th at p. 416.) The appellate and
collateral review process can hardly be said to opérate for a capital defendant’s
benefit if this Court, as respondent urges, gives the state license simply to

perpetuate at a new trial the prejudice from constitutional errors that led to
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reversal in the first instance. (See Bloom v. Calderon, supra, 132 F.3d at p.
1278 [appellant was prejudiced at his first trial by his attorneys’ failure to
provide critical materials to and prepare defense mental health experts, and by
the prosecution’s ability to thus turn the evidence against him.].)

At a minimum, the trial court should have precluded imposition of the
death penalty. (1CT 103; 3CT 449.) While this remedy would not make
appellant whole, it is consistent with the goal of achieving reliability in the
procedures resulting in a death verdict. The same due process principles that
in some cases compel dismissal of an entire criminal action when the defense
is denied access to critiqal evidence apply with even greater force in the capital
sentencing context where the defendant must be afforded a fair opportunity to
respond to the prosecution’s case for death (Simmons v. South Carolina, supra,
512 U.S. at 168-69; Skipper v. South Carolina (1986)476 U.S. 1, 5n.1; Green
v. Georgia (1979) 442 U.S. 95, 97; Gardner v. Florida (1977) 430 U.S. 349,
362), and where the “provision of ‘accurate sentencing information [is] an
indispensable prerequisite’” under the Eighth Amendment “to a reasoned
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determination of whether a defendant shall live or die.”” (Simmons v. South
| Carolina, supra, 512 U.S. at p. 172 (conc. opn. of Souter, J.), quoting Gregg
v. Georgia(1976)428 U.S. 153,190 (1976) (joint opn. of Stewart, Powell, and
Stevens, JJ.).)

If the government’s interest “in a criminal prosecution ... ‘is not that it
shall win a case, but that justice shall be done’” (Jencks v. United States,
supra,353 U.S. atp. 668 [ellipses in original], quoting Berger v. United States
(1935) 295 U.S. 78, 88)), then the state’s interest in “winning” a death
sentence is vanishingly small when the alternative is life without possibility of

parole, and the defendant has been deprived, by constitutional error in his first

trial, of critical mitigating evidence without which the new jurors cannot make
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an informed or reliable sentencing decision.’ (See Beck v. Alabama (1980)
447 U.S. 625, 637-38, fn. 13 [greater reliability required in capital cases],
citing Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 357-358 (opn. of Stevens, J.); accord
Lockett v. Ohio (1978) 438 U.S. 586, 604 [plur. opn.]; Woodson v. North
Carolina (1976) 428 U.S. 280, 304-05 [plur. opn.].) “Justice” is particularly
ill-served by the state’s relentless pursuit of the death penalty in this case in
light of the other compelling mitigating circumstances, including appellant’s
serious neurological and organic damage, his mental illness, and particularly
his years of abuse and victimization at the hands of Bloom, Sr.

C. The Unavailability of Key Lay Witnesses Undermined
the Presentation of a Defense, Caused the Jury to
Consider Misleading and Unreliable Information, and
Prevented a Fair Retrial

Respondent acknowledges that appellant may properly raise the due
process violation that resulted from the erroneous admission of former
testimony discussed in Argument II, below. (RB 50-51.) The issue is
addressed in that section.

D. Repeated References to Appellant’s Prior Trial
Prevented a Fair Retrial

Respondent argues first that appellant failed to renewed his objection

under section 1180 during the trial itself and therefore forfeited the claim. (RB

5 Respondent tries to diminish the significance of the lost evidence by
arguing that “both Dr. Naham and Dr. Kling had, at least at one point,
diagnosed appellant with antisocial personality disorder — a diagnosis that
would have been highly damaging to the defense and favorable to the
prosecution.” (RB 50.) Dr. Kling acknowledged that his prior diagnosis was
false, inaccurate and not medically sound in that they were based on
inadequate and incomplete social and medical history information. (Bloom v.
Calderon, supra, 132 F.3d at pp. 1274-1275.) Dr. Naham was, of course,
unavailable to explain the erroneous nature of that prior diagnosis.
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51.) Second, respondent maintains that the repeated references to a prior trial
did not violate either section 1180 or appellant’s constitutional right to a fair
retrial because there was no direct reference to the actual, prior verdict and that
the indirect references “did not pose an unacceptable risk that the jury would
draw any prejudicial inference against appellant.” (RB 53, citing People v.
Kessler (1963) 221 Cal.App.2d 187.) Respondent is incorrect.

As an initial matter, respondent construes section 1180 too narrowly.
Section 1180 provides in full that “[t]he granting of a new trial places the
parties in the same position as if no trial had been had. All the testimony must
be produced anew, and the former verdict or finding cannot be used or referred
to, either in evidence or in argument, or be pleaded in bar of any conviction
which might have been had under the accusatory pleading.” It therefore does
not merely prohibit explicit references to the former verdict, but requires a
retrial to be conducted on a clean slate.

A clean slate is particularly necessary where, as here, the defendant’s
convictions were reversed because of error - such as the ineffective assistance
of trial counsel - that fundamentally undermined the reliability of the previous
proceedings and the resulting verdicts. For the jurors to put any stock in the
prior proceedings reinfects the new trial with the same unreliability and
constitutional error.

Respondent attempts to distinguish People v. Kessler, supra, 221
Cal.App.2d at p. 192, arguing that it applies only where the prejudicial
information “was not necessary to the prosecution’s case.” (RB 52.) Although
the Kessler court commended the attorney general in that case for admitting
that the trial prosecutor had acted improperly by calling the defendant’s
probation officer when he was not a necessary witness, the court did not create

a gaping loophole in section 1180, as respondent suggests.
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Rather, Kessler distinguished People v. Solis (1961) 193 Cal. App.2d 68,
76, in which the court had disapproved calling a probation officer as a witness,
but did not find reversible error where the defendant’s prior conviction for
narcotics possession was admitted to impeach his claim that he was unfamiliar
with narcotics. The Solis court contrasted People v. Spencer (1956) 140
Cal.App.2d 97, 105, in which the defendant’s prior narcotics conviction was
not admissible as impeachment, because the defendant did not dispute that he
knew what heroin was.

Notably, Solis’s conviction was reversed on another ground: the
prosecution had called Solis’s wife to testify, knowing that the defense would
invoke marital privilege. Observing that the jurors could not help but infer that
the wife’s testimony would have been incriminating, the court of appeal held
“[t]he conclusion that [Solis] did not receive a fair trial is inescapable.”
(People v. Solis, supra, 193 Cal.App.2d at p. 78.)

The court in Kessler, citing section 1180, similarly concluded that the
prosecution’s “indirect method of using and referring to defendant’s former
trial; implying prior criminality . . . could not have failed to prejudice
defendant in the eyes of the jury. Unquestionably, it denied him a fair trial.”
(People v. Kessler, supra, 221 Cal.App.2d at p. 192.)

The prosecution in this case made repeated, gratuitous references tothe
prior proceedings, including arguing that they had been more accurate, thus
inviting the jury to infer that appellant had not only been previously convicted
of the same offenses but that he had benefitted from an unjustified reversal.
(AOB 84-85.)

It is widely recognized that jurors’ exposure to “information that the
defendant was convicted of the same charge at an earlier trial . . . inherently

poses a substantial risk of prejudice to a defendant.” (United States v. Attell
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(5th Cir. 1981) 655 F.2d 703, 705 [jurors exposed to publicity disclosing prior
conviction].) Indeed, it is difficuit “to think of anything more damning to an
accused than information that a jury had previously convicted him for the
crime charged.” (/bid., quoting United States v. Williams (5th Cir. 1978) 568
F.2d 464, 471.) The prejudice is compounded if the jury is left to speculate
“that the defendant had ‘got off on a technicality.”” (United States v. Attell,
supra, 655F.2d at p. 705, quoting United States v. Williams, supra, 568 F.2d
at p.470; see also People v. Purvis (1963) 60 Cal.2d 323, 339 [risk that jurors
may have seen sheriff’s comments during retrial revealing that two prior juries
had imposed “the extreme penalty” on defendant and the “sentences were
reversed on technicalities” required reversal].) Respondent’s contention that
the prosecution’s references “did not pose an unacceptable risk that the jury
would draw any prejudicial inference against 5ppellant” (RB 53), is thus
contrary to both common sense and the law. Moreover, the harm here from the
trial court’s refusal to craft a remedy and prosecutorial cross-examination and
argument, when considered cumulatively with other errors that undercut
appellant’s mens rea defense and mental health evidence (see, €.g., Arguments
I1, IX-XIII) removes any doubt that the errors were prejudicial.

Finally, contrary to respondent’s claim, trial counsel did not forfeit their
objections (RB 51), but invoked section 1180 repeatedly, attempting to limit
the prosecution’s prejudicial references to the previous trial. (AOB 84-85.)
The fact that it was so difficult to prevent improper references by the
prosecution, and that the defense was hamstrung in its efforts to explain the
complicated procedural context of the case by the prosecution’s insistence that
any effort to do so would open the door all manner of prejudicial information
relating to the previous trial (AOB 86), underscores the broader point that it

was impossible for appellant to receive a fair retrial.
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IL

ADMISSION OF THE PRIOR TESTIMONY OF MARTIN
MEDRANO AND CHRISTINE WALLER CONSTITUTED
PREJUDICIAL ERROR AND REQUIRES REVERSAL OF THE
ENTIRE JUDGMENT

Martin Medrano and Christine Waller were key prosecution witnesses
at appellant’s first trial. (AOB 87-90.) By the time of the retrial neither was
available to testify. (AOB 87;RB 54.) Yet, despite the fact that appellant had
been granted a new trial because of his counsel’s ineffectiveness at the first
trial, and despite the fact that appellant had been mentally incompetent at his
first trial, the trial court ruled that the testimony of Medrano and Waller from
the first trial could be read to the jury at appellant’s second trial. (RB 54.)

Respondent believes that the fact appellant had ineffective counsel at
his first trial does not affect the use of this testimony at his second trial. (RB
55-61.) Respondent also believes that the testimony could be read to
appellant’s jury at the second trial regardless of the fact he may have been
incompetent when the testimony was initially adduced. (RB 61-70.) Finally,
respondent asserts that even if the testimony was improperly placed before the
jury at the second trial, such an error was harmless. (RB 70-74.) All these
assertions are incorrect. Admission ofthis evidence violated appellant’s rights
to confrontation, due process, a fair trial, and a reliable adjudication of guilt,
sanity, and penalty. (AOB 87-127.)

A. The Prior Testimony Should Have Been Excluded
Because of the Ineffective Assistance of Counsel at the
First Trial

As a general matter, both the Evidence Code and the federal
~ Constitution permit the admission of a witness’s prior testimony if the witness

is unavailable and the defendant had an opportunity to examine that witness
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with the same motive and interest which exists at the current proceeding.
(Evid. Code, § 1291, subd. (a); Crawford v. Washington (2004) 541 U.S. 36,
57.) Respondent believes that these principles are unaffected by the fact that
the prior testimony elicited in this case was obtained while the defendant was
represented by an attorney who was subsequently found to be ineffective. (RB
55-61.) Respondent bases this belief upon misguided factual and legal
conclusions. An examination of both the facts in this case and the law that
applies to this type of situation yields a conclusion at oddslwith that set forth
by respondent.

Initially, it is important to place the issue in its proper perspective.
Respondent describes appellant’s claim as being that he had no “adequate”
opportunity to cross-examine Medrano and Waller at the first trial. (RB 55.)
The issue, however, is whether appellant had a “meaningful” opportunity for
effective cross-examination at the prior proceeding. (People v. Brock (1985)
38 Cal.3d 180, 190; People v. Cloyd (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 1402, 1409; see
People v. Gonzales (2012) 54 Cal.4th 1234, 1262 [defendant not denied
“meaningful opportunity to cross-examine” at prior hearing]; compare
Merriam Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary (10th ed. 1994) p. 14 [adequate
defined as barely sufficient] with p. 720 [meaningful defined as being of
significance].) The difference between “adequate” and “meaningful” reflects
whether we mean to pay only lip service to the right of confrontation or
actually to respect the place it has in ensuring due process.of law. There is no
dispute that appellant was afforded some opportunity to cross-examine Waller
and Medrano at the previous trial, but the reality is that due to prior trial
counsel’s ineffective representation appellant had no meaningful opportunity
for effective cross-examination. Consequently, the prior testimony should not

have been admitted at the present trial.
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Respondent believes that the law dictétes a disregard for the quality of
the representation at the prior proceeding unless the court making the finding
of ineffectiveness bases that finding explicitly on an examination of the
witness whose testimony is being admitted at the current proceeding. (RB 55-
56.) This is a crabbed reading of both the holding by the Ninth Circuit in this
particular case and an inaccurate reading of the law applicable to this issue.

It is true, as respondent asserts, that the Ninth Circuit found counéel at
the first trial ineffective for inadequately preparing the key psychiatric witness.
(RB 56.) This is not, though, the only observation about counsel’s
performance that the Ninth Circuit made. In support of its opinion, the court
quoted favorably the testimony of a law student involved in preparation of the
defense and the declaration of a potential fact witness. The law student
testified, among other things, that counsel was rarely available, would
disappear for hours at a time to play Pac-Man at a bowling alley, and that
everyone at the firm was concerned about his lack of preparation. (Bloom v.
Calderon (9th Cir. 1997) 132 F.3d 1267, 1271.) She also testified that counsel
never discussed a theory of defense with her, despite the fact that she told him
she needed to discuss the theory of defense in order to aid in preparing the key
psychiatric witness. (I/d. at pp. 1271-1272.) Finally, the court noted the
declaration of a social worker who was a percipient observer of appellant’s
mental instability and its manifestations who said she constantly tried to
contact trial counsel but he never responded to her entreaties. (/d. at pp. 1276-
1277.) |

The Ninth Circuit’s reliance upon the above in its opinion indicates a
broader view of trial counsel’s ineffectiveness than simply one restricted to a
lack of preparation pertaining to a single expert witness. The Ninth Circuit

may have focused on the significance of the ineffectiveness as it pertained to
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this key witness, but the ineffective assistance chronicled and highlighted by
the court paints a much broader picture of incompetent representation than
respondent credits. Respondent’s narrow reading of the Ninth Circuit’s
opinion causes it to pose the case improperly as one where trial counsel has
been found ineffective because of an isolated inadequacy in his conduct of the
trial, whereas the fair import of the Ninth Circuit’s opinion is that it believed
trial counsel at the first trial generally was ineffective and focused the basis for
reversal on the most salient factor in that ineffectiveness. This is an important
distinction to bear in mind as one analyzes the cases respondent believes
support its position.

Respondent views Mancusi v. Stubbs (1972) 408 U.S. 204 (Mancusi)
as mandating rejection of appellant’s claim. (RB 55-57.) It does not.
Respondent views Mancusi more broadly than is appropriate and glosses over
significant facts that actually support appellant’s claim. Initially, it is of great
si gniﬁcance that the ineffectiveness finding which resulted in setting aside the
initial 1954 conviction which lay at the heart of the case was not based upon
a finding that trial counsel was actually ineffective in conducting the trial at
issue, but was the product of a per se rule of ineffectiveness based upon the
short time that existed between appointment of counsel and the start of the
trial. (Mancusi, supra, 408 U.S. atp. 214.) As the high court itself noted, had
the habeas court which set aside the conviction reviewed it after the high
court’s ruling in Chambersv. Maroney (1970)399 U.S. 42, which disapproved
such per se findings, it might have addressed actual ineffectiveness. (/bid.)
The import of this is that Mancusi is not a case where ineffectiveness was
based on actual performance, whereas here it was. This is a significant
difference which respondent does not credit.

Another significant difference between Mancusi and this case is that in
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addition to there never having been a finding of actual ineffective
performance, there was a specific finding of effective performance in Mancusi.
In reviewing the second trial in state court-the trial where the prior testimony
of one of the victims was interuced—the state supreme court expressly found
the cross-examination of the victim at the prior trial to be constitutionally
sufficient. (Mancusi, supra, 408 U.S. atp. 214.) In other words, not only was
there no finding ‘of actual ineffectiveness in Mancusi, there was a specific
finding of effectiveness in cross-examination as it related to the exact prior
testimony the state was seeking to admit. That is a far cry from a case where
the Ninth Circuit made general observations of the actual ineffectiveness of
trial counsel and no court has addressed the adequacy of the examination at
issue. Mancusi simply does not foreclose appellant’s claim.

Respondent next proffers that Mancusi requires a demonstration of
what cross-examination would have taken place aside from that which did
occur, and which demonstrates the first examination was ineffective, before
a court can consider making a finding that the former testimony would be
inadmissible. Respondent argues that the mere fact that one attorney would
cross-examine in a different manner than another attorney is not, in and of
itself, a basis for barring the former testimony. (RB 58-61.) Respondent
makes more of the first assertion than is warranted by the factual setting of
Mancusi, and while appellant does not disagree with the second proposition—-as
a general matter of law—it is not relevant to the situation existing here.

Respondent’s approach to Mancusi decontextualizes and separates its
holding from its facts. As discussed above, in Mancusi the Tennessee
Supreme Court already had found that the cross-examination of the
unavailable witness was constitutionally sufficient. (Mancusi, siupra,408 U.S.

at p. 214.) The Second Circuit drew a different conclusion and found the
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examination to be inadequate. (/d.atp.215.) Consequently, what the United
States Supreme Court was addressing in the context of whether to grant relief
under this particular set of circumstances was simply whether the Second
Circuit’s finding was correct. In other words, the parts of the opinion upon
which respondent relies were not addressing whether a defendant carries a
burden of demonstration of inadequacy in this regard, but whether the Second
Circuit’s finding was supportable in light of the facts that the federal district
court had granted relief because of a per se rule and the Tennessee Supreme
Court had previously found the examination sufficient. Here, the Ninth Circuit
found ineffectiveness in actual performance. This separates appellant’s case
from the approach taken by the Supreme Court in Mancusi.

Even if one were to believe that appellant did bear some burden in
showing how the examination at the second trial would have been different
and more productive than that at the first trial, that burden has been met here.
In Mancusi, the Supreme Court found that “counsel at the retrial did not in his
proffer show any new and significantly material line of cross-examination that
was not at least touched upon in the first trial.” (Mancusi, 408 U.S. at p. 215.)
In fact, the Supreme Court found that the questions which were proferred as
ones that should have been asked at the first trial were all questions that had
been “adverted to in the earlier cross-examination.” (/d. at p. 215.) As
appellant has demonstrated (AOB 91-95, 101), such is not the case here. Thus,
even if appellant bears this burden, he has met it.

Finally, respondent’s approach to appellant’s use of People v. Ledesma
(2006) 39 Cal.4th 641 reveals respondent’s failure to consider this issue in the
context of the purpose to be served by the confrontation clause and Evidence
Code section 1291. (See RB 58, fn. 36.) Respondent believes appellant is

urging upon this Court a rule that prior testimony is only admissible at a retrial
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resulting from a finding of ineffective assistance at the first trial when the
witness at issue is present for the retrial and subject to examination. (RB 58,
fn. 36.) That is an incorrect reading of appellant’s argument.

Appellant agrees with respondent that Ledesma held that the propriety
of admitting prior testimony at a retrial where counsel was held ineffective at
the first trial depends on the circumstances of both the pfior and the present
trial. (RB 58, fn. 36.) More particularly, the Ledesma court found that
“decisions that have addressed such issues have examined the circumstances
surrounding the prior testimony and how it was used in the subsequent trial,
to determine whether the evidence at issue is attributable to counsel’s
ineffective assistance and whether its use denied the defendant a fair trial in
the subsequent proceedings.” (People v. Ledesma, supra, 39 Cal.4th at pp.
686-687.) The Ledesma court then listed as examples a string of cases that
illustrated the principle it was setting forth. An examination of both the
Ledesma holding itself, as well as these cases, reveals principles that support
appellaﬁt’s view. ‘

Regardless of respondent’s protestations, the essence of the holding in
Ledesma is that the confrontation clause is not violated or a defendant denied
a fair trial when the prior testimony of defense witnesses is used to impeach
them when they testify at the retrial. A fair trial is not compromised by the
prior ineffectiveness of defense counsel because the witnesses were available
to explain away any inconsistencies between their prior testimony and their
present testimony. Appellant does not assert that it is a requirement that the
witnesses be available for examination in all cases before a prior statement
may be admitted, but it certainly was a consideration in Ledesma. (AOB 96-
98.) Here, the witnesses were prosecution witnesses—as opposed to Ledesma

where they were defense witnesses— and were not available for examination;
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this is a significant difference.

Examining the fact patterns of the cases Ledesma cites shows a similar
support for appellant’s position. Two of the four cases which this Court found
exemplary of the principle it was espousing involved holdings that permitted
the state to use the pfior testimony for impeachment only rather than for
substantive purposes as well as impeachment. Both of these cases held that the
state could only use the prior testimony of the defendant for impeachment
purposes if the defendant elected to testify. (See People v. Duncan (111.App.
1988) 527 N.E.2d 1060, 1062; Ibn-Tamas v. United States (D.C. 1979) 407
A.2d 626, 646.) Tellingly, this Court also cited as representative of its
thinking a case where the reviewing court reversed a conviction because the
trial court permitted the state to use as direct evidence an admission of guilt
obtained at a prior hearing where the defendant had been represented by an
attorney suffering from a conflict of interest. (See People v. Karlin (1964)231
Cal.App.2d 227, 232.) The final case cited by the Ledesma Court, People v.
Sixto (1993) 17 ‘Cal.App.4th 374, merely illustrates that a finding of
ineffectiveness of counsel at a prior trial calls for a careful analysis of the
actual effect of that ruling and réquires the trial court to tailor a curative
remedy appropriate to the facts of the case. While noting “the unusual
circumstances of this case,” both the Sixto trial court and the reviewing court
did, in fact, recognize the appropriateness of some curative measure, albeit not
the specific measures requested by the defendant ih that case. (/d. at pp. 385-
404 [remedies sought by counsel revolved around complex issue of how to

treat destruction of evidence arguably resulting from prior counsel’s
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ineffectiveness].)®

Consideration of the philosophy espoused in Ledesma, as well as the
cases that the Court found illustrative of that philosophy, supports appellant’s
contention that the proper remedy in this case was to bar the state from using
the direct testimony of Medrano and Waller in its case-in-chief. Karlin was
the only case cited by the Ledesma Court as exemplary of its philosophy which
involved the use of prior testimony as direct evidence by the state, and the
Karlin court reversed that conviction. The view espoused by the People that
such a remedy here is inappropriate because the Ninth Circuit did not feel the

examination of these two witnesses (while noting that he seemed to spend

need to specifically address the ineffectiveness of prior counsel 'during the
more time playing video games than preparing the defense and never
articulated to anyone involved in the case—co-workers or witnesses he
called—any theory of the defense) is neither reasonable nor what this Court
should accept as a worthy approach to the taw. The ineffectiveness of prior
trial counsel must bar the state from profiting by being able to use the prior
testimony of Medrano and Walter when appellant did not have a meaningful
opportunity to confront them at the first trial.

B. The Prior Testimony Was Inadmissable Because
Appellant Was Incompetent at the Time of the
Previous Trial

Appellant objected to the admissioh of the prior testimony of Medrano
and Waller on the basis that he was incompetent at the time the testimony was
adduced. (AOB 111-112.) There are two separate junctures during the
evolution of this prosecution that need to be considered as they relate to a

determination of this issue. The first point of consideration is the

6 See Arg. I, ante.
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determination following the penalty phase of his first trial where—while being
represented by counsel later found to be ineffective~there was a finding that
appellant was competent to proceed .with the remainder of the legal
proceedings. The second point of consideration relates to the extensive
evidence developed in support of the federal habeas corpus petition which
eventually resulted in the reversal of the prior judgment, which evidence led
several experts to conclude after they had been able to review the extant
evidence pertaining to the issue-that appellant was actually incompetent
during the course of the proceedings at his first trial. (AOB 105-111;see, e.g.,
2CT 278-291 (Declaration of Wm. Vicary, J.D, M.D.); 2CT 293-322
(Declaration of I. Hyman Weiland, M.D., Ph.D.); 2CT 327-338 (Declaration
of Julian Kivovitz MD. JD.); 2CT 340-385 (Declaration of David Lisak,
Ph.D.); 2CT 387-401 (Declaration of Donald W. Verin, M.D.).)

Based upon the extensive evidence developed in federal habeas
proceedings, appellanf argued at the time of his retrial that such evidence
showed he had been incompetent at the time the Medrano and Waller
testimony was adduced, and therefore it could not be admitted against him. He
also requested a hearing on the issue of his prior competence as it related to
admission of this testimony. The trial court, without directly addressing the
substance of these claims, admitted the prior testimony and did not afford
appellant the requested hearing. (AOB 111-113.)

Respondent asserts that the trial court’s ruling was correct, and the fact
that appellant may have been incompetent when the prior testimony of these
witnesses was adduced is not a sufficient reason to have barred its use at the
retrial. (RB 65-70.) To a certain extent, respondent misperceives the concern
at issue, but ultimately respondent is simply wrong in its belief that the

incompetence of the defendant at the time the former testimony is adduced
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does not prevent its use at a later proceeding.

Both the trial court and respondent have analyzed this issue from a
faulty perspective: both have adopted the view that appellant’s incompetence
at the time of the prior trial and the admission of the former testimony of
Medrano and Waller are “two separate issues.”” (RB 65.) This is wrong.
They are both inextricably linked subparts of the only issue under
consideration here: Whether appellant has been denied his right of
confrontation at the instant trial where the state is permitted to introduce
former testimony adduced at a time when appellant was incompetent. The
answer to this single issue is that a meaningful opportunity for cross-
examination is not given to a defendant when that defendant is incompetent.
Therefore, a transcript of testimony adduced under those circumstances may
not be used as a substitute for live testimony at a future proceeding.

The fundamental flaw in the approach taken by the trial court and
respondent is the attempt to draw a bright line between a defendant’s
incompetence during the time of an examination of a witness and a
consideration of the effectiveness of that cross-examination. In respondent’s
view, the fact of import is the attorney’s competence at the prior proceeding
and the fact the defendant may have been incompetent at the prior proceeding
is irrelevant. (RB 66-67.) Because of that view, respondent believes the

opinion in Stevenson v. Superior Court (1979) 91 Cal.App.3d 92, which held

’ This misconception is reflected best by footnote 43 on page 66 of the
Respondent’s Brief. There, respondent is correct in saying that appellant was
not seeking to relitigate his competency in itself, but was opposing admission
of the former testimony. Respondent goes astray, however, by implying that
because the latter issue was relitigated at the instant trial the competency issue
seemingly disappears. (RB 66, fn. 43.) In order to effectively resolve the
admissibility issue, the competency issue had to be addressed.
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that former testimony could not be admitted at a subsequent trial where the
defendant was incompetent at the time the testimony was adduced, to be
incorrectly decided. (RB 66; see AOB 111-113.)

Initially, respondent takes the Stevenson court to task for failing to
consider Mancusi v. Stubbs, supra, when rendering its opinion. (RB 66.)
According to respondent, the opinion in Stevenson should not be followed
because it did not attempt to reconcile its conclusion with the idea that there
is no absolute bar to the use of prior testimony from a proceeding where
counsel was ineffective. (Ibid.) This is not a valid basis for distinction
because the principle being addressed in Stevensbn is a different principle than
the one respondent wants to address. The point being made by the Stevenson
court is that there cannot exist a meaningful opportunity to confront a witness
when the defendant is incompetent at the time of the examination. (Stevenson
v. Superior Court, supra, 91 Cal.App.3d at p. 930.) Because of its focal point,
there was no need for the Stevenson court to address Stubbs. Consequently,
urging that the opinion be disregarded because of a failure to do something it
had no reason to do is illogical.®

Respondent’s assertion that “there is no principled basis upon which to

# The same reasoning applies to the observation by the court in People
v. Jones (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 760, 768 that Stevenson can be questioned
because the defendant there was not required to demonstrate how his
assistance would have improved the cross-examination. (RB 67.) The Jones
opinion is also curious because it holds that if a trial court refuses to appoint
counsel for a defendant and forces him to represent himself at the first
proceeding, the testimony of witnesses who subsequently became unavailable
would not have been admissible at the second proceeding, but not because the
defendant's right to counsel would have been violated, but because the
assistance of counsel tends to promote effective cross-examination. (/d. at p.
766.) Certainly, the same principle must operate to dictate that having a
competent defendant promotes effective cross-examination.
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distinguish prior testimony elicited at a proceeding during which the defendant
was incompetent from testimony elicited at a proceeding during which counsel
provided ineffective representation” is simply wrong. (RB 67.) If this
proposition were true, then a case could be tried from beginning to end with
an incompetent defendant and there would seemingly be no violation of the
laW as long as the incompetent defendant had the effective assistance of
counsel. Yet, that is not the law. It is not the law because competence to stand
trial is a bedrock principle of our jurisprudence totally apart from the concept
of a defendant having the effective assistance of counsel. (See Pate v.
Robinson (1966) 383 U.S. 375, 385 [violation of federal due process to try
incompetent defendant].) For that reason, it is perfectly logical to draw a
distinction—when determining whether there was a meaningful opportunity for
cross-examination—between instances of incompetence of the defendant and
ineffective assistance of trial counsel. That is what the Stevenson court did
and it was correct to do so.

Respondent’s ultimate view is that appellant was competent at the first
trial so there was no need to relitigate the competency issue before admitting
the former testimony.” (RB 67-68.) Had appellant been seeking to relitigate
the issue of his previous competency to stand trial, this viewpoint would have
some currency. But that is not what was taking place. The prosecution, as the
proponent of the previous testimony, was seeking its admission under

Evidence Code section 1291. One of the burdens the prosecution bore was to

° Respondent also posits that retrospective competency determinations
can be difficult, so the trial court could be excused from engaging in one. (RB
68.) The trial court never said it thought a retrospective competency
determination would be difficult in this particular case, so there is no reason
to deny relief on the basis one could not have been undertaken.
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show that appellant had a meaningful opportunity to cross-examine these
witnesses at the prior proceeding. (People v. Morrison (2004) 34 Cal.4th 698,
724 [proponent of evidence has burden of establishing foundational
requirements for its admissibility and evidence is properly excluded when
party fails to do so]; see also People v. Diaz (1992) 3 Cal.4th 495, 534-535
[proponent of evidence who claims business records exception has burden to
establish trustworthiness].) This joined the issue of whether appellant was
competent at the time these two witnesses were examined, not whether he was
competent at the later date of his sentencing. Appellant does not dispute that
if no issue had been raised regarding his competency at the time of the
examination of the witnesses, the state could have proceeded with the
assumption that he was competent. But, because appellant did raise this
question—a question legitimately raised by the new (post-1983 trial) evidence
and opinions developed in habeas proceedings—it was before the trial court as
a component of making its evidentiary ruling. It was error for the trial court
to simply dismiss this question and not consider it. Because of that, the trial
court’s evidentiary ruling admitting the former testimony was made on an
improper basis, did not take into account all the factors necessary to satisfy the
admission requirements of Evidence Code section 1291, and was erroneous.
(See AOB 121-122.)

C. Appellant Was Prejudiced by Admission of this
Testimony

The testimony of these witnesses was an essential component of
proving the state’s case and undermining appellant’s defense. As fully set
forth previously, Waller’s testimony was essential to supporting the state’s
premeditation theory and to showing that appellant did not suffer from any

mental impairments that would prevent premeditation and deliberation. Her
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testimony also undermined defense evidence regarding the abuse inflicted by
Bloom, Sr. More parﬁcularly, the state was able to use omissions from
Waller’s testimony to undercut the diagnosis of Asperger’s syndrome; the
theory was that because of her relationship with appellant, Waller would have
supplied such evidence if it really had existed. (AOB 122-123.) Medrano’s
testimony was also important for establishing premeditation and deliberation.
(AOB 123-124.)

Respbndent believes that there was ample evidence apart from that of
Medrano and Waller to show premeditation‘ and deliberation. (RB 71-72.)
Respondent also asserts that the testimony did not hamper presentation of
appellant’s mental-state defense, which respondent simultaneously describes
as both “robust” and “far from convincing.”' (RB 72.) Finally, respondent
asserts this was not a particularly close case, so the introduction of this
evidence had little effect on the jury’s verdicts. (RB 73.)

Appellant’s point regarding prejudice, which is not really rebutted by
respondent, is that the testimony of these particular witnesses was utilized as
a continuing thread throughout the state’s case from guilt through penalty
phase, which is not true of other pieces of evidence utilized by the state. The
prejudice is not so much that without this testimony there would have been a
total absence of evidence to show premeditation and deliberation, or that there
was no other evidence that could be used to inferentially undermine the
mental-state defense, but more that the testimony from these witnesses was the
cornerstone that supported the foundation of the state’s case.

Waller was a particularly unique witness in this regard. She was clearly

an important and pivotal person to appellant and the jury would naturally pay
?

10" See Introduction, ante.
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close attention to her testimony. Consequently, the ability of the state to stress,
e.g., that she gave no testimony that appellant recited lists of English kings—an
absence that the prosecutor considered significant in undermining the
Asperger’s diagnosis—was pivotal in attacking the mental-state defense. As
perhaps the person closest to appellant, Waller would have been seen by the
jury as the person most likely to have been privy to this knowledge, and the
lack of this evidence was utilized by the prosecutor, who argued that if the
evidence was true then Waller would certainly have mentioned it. (30RT
3884.) There is no comparable testimony from any other witness that would
have permitted such a devastating argument.

As to whether this was a close case, appellant stands by the argument
in his opening brief. (AOB 125-126.) Respondent does not think that a close
case is indicated by the fact it took the jury four days of deliberations and a
request for readback and further jury instructions before it found appellant
guilty of first degree murder as to Bloom, Sr. (RB 73; see AOB 125.) This is
a difficult position to credit given the relatively straightforward facts and
focused mens rea determinations to be made by the jury.

Ultimately, the question for resolution is not whether there was any
other evidence to support the state and impeach the defense or whether four
days of deliberation constitutes a close case; the ultimate question is whether
the state has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that this evidence, considered
separtely or in combination with the other errors undermining appellant’s
guilt and sanity phase mental defenses, including the errors set forth in
Arguments I, IX-XIII, did not contribute to the verdict. (Chapman v.
California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24.) It has not. Reversal is required.
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IIL

THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED APPELLANT’S STATE AND
FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS BY FAILING TO
SUSPEND THE CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS AND INITIATE
COMPETENCE PROCEEDINGS

A. Introduction

In the opening brief, appellant demonstrated that there was substantial
evidence raising a bona fide, reasonable doubt both whether appellant had a
rational understanding of fhe proceedings and whether he was rationally able
to assist defense counsel. The evidence raising that doubt included but was not
limited to: expert declarations opining that appellant was incompetent at his
prior trial; evidence of specific brain trauma in utero and/or at age two;
consistent results in Dr. Watson’s neuropsychological testing over two separate
courses of testing, demonstrating severe brain impairment and cognitive
deficits; an overwhelming consensus of approximately eight mental health
experts that appellant was seriously mentally ill and cognitively impaired;
defense counsel’s repeated warnings to the trial court that counsel had serious
concerns about appellant’s competence; evidence concerning appellant’s
history of antipsychotic medication; Dr. Vicary’s opinion that appellant might
“snap” under the pressure of trial; defense counsel’s eventual declaration ofa
doubt about appellant’s competence; defense counsel’s representation that
appellant’s behavior had changed recently, including during the period that
appellant absented himself from the courtroom during the sanity phase; the fact
that the jury was unable to reach unanimous verdicts as to sanity on Counts
Two and Three, with three jurors having been convince& by a preponderance
of evidence that appellant was insane during the commission of the homicides
on those two counts; the irrational bases for appellant’s withdrawal of his NGI

plea; defense counsel’s refusal to consent to the withdrawal of the NGI plea;
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appellant’s peculiar behavior in preparing for his penalty phase; his bizarre,
inappropriate and irrational behavior in representing himself during the penalty
phase; his refusal to cooperate with Dr. Sharma; and his requests to reinstate
his NGI plea and to reinstate defense counsel to represent him.

Appellant demonstrated that even if a piece of this evidence raising a
doubt as to appellant’s incompetence considered in isolation( might be
considered insufficient to have required the trial court to suspend proceedings
and hold a competence hearing, the cumulative weight of these factors,
especially as the evidence mounted through the course of the proceedings,
leaves no reasonable conclusion other than that an objective doubt as to
appellant’s competence existed. Suspension of proceedings, appointment of
the regional center or other qualified experts, followed by an appropriate
hearing to determine whether he was competent, were required by statute and
by federal constitutional mandates. On this record, under the specific facts
before the trial court, the failure of the trial court to take those steps deprived
appellant of due process and a fair trial, and requires reversal of the entire
judgment.

Respondent does not address most of the specific arguments and
authorities set forth in the opening brief. Indeed, respondent generally posits
different inferences from parts of the record than those drawn by appellant
from the entire record. However, those different inferences at most suggest
that there was a conflict in the evidence regarding appellant’s competence,
which bolsters rather than defeats appellant’s claim that a doubt should have
been declared.

Nor does respondent adequately address the various indications in the
record that the trial court applied legally erroneous standards in assessing the

evidence and ruling on the question, employed a personal, and fallacious,
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belief regarding the credibility and probative value of the opinions of the
mental health experts who had examined, tested, and evaluated appellant over
the years, and arbitrarily disregarded evidence relevant to the question of
appellant’s competence. Appellant demonstrated that, as a result, even if the
evidence did not amount to “substantial evidence” requiring suspension of the
proceedings, the trial court abused its discretion in not ordering further
evaluation of appellant’s competence in a reasonable exercise of caution.

Respondent dismisses the overwhelming evidence of appellant’s long
standing mental illness, brain damage, developmental disability, and social and
cognitive impairments without providing any reasoned basis for doing so, or
for the trial court’s continuing disregard of that evidence.

Respondent trivializes the substantial evidence raising a doubt of
appellant’s competence, substituting hollow characterizations of the record for
any meaningful review or detailed analysis of the subétantial and complex
combination of evidence supporting that doubt. Appellant’s statements must
be analyzed in the context in which he made them. . Instead, respondent
removes all context and characterizes appellant’s behavior devoid of context
in an attempt to make it appear rational.

Respondent provides no legal authority to support the assertion that the
evidence relevant to appellant’s competence legally precludes eitLer a finding
of incompetence or a reasonable doubt as to his competence or that any
specific evidence necessarily negates such a finding or doubt. Respondent’s
factual analysis does not support a conclusion that the record evidence relevant
to appellant’s competence, standing alone or in combination with the other
evidence in the record, is inconsistent with, and precludes, either a finding of
incompetence or a reasonable doubt as to his competence. Respondent does

not address the cumulative effect of the evidence on the question of appellant’s
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competence.

Respondent also relies upon arepeated assertion that nothing related the
mental health evidence or the other facts presented related to appellant’s ability
to understand the proceedings rationally or to rationally assist defense counsel.
(RB 135-137.) As demonstrated in the opening brief, that is untrue. Defense
counsel regularly linked the evidence of appellant’s mental health deficits and
dysfunctions to his ability to assist defense counsel rationally. (See AOB 150-
151.)

B. Because There Was Substantial Evidence That
Appellant Was Incompetent to Comprehend the
Proceedings or Assist Counsel Rationally, the Court
Erred in Failing to Order a Competence Hearing
Pursuant to Penal Code Sections 1367 et seq.

1. There was substantial evidence to raise
a doubt as to appellant’s competence
prior to the guilt verdicts

Respondent misconstrues an important legal principle applicable to
review of the record in this case, stating that the trial court’s decision not to
hold a competency hearing in this case “is entitled to deference because of the
court’s opportunity to observe the defendant during trial. (People v. Rogers
(2006) 39 Cal.4th 826, 847.) The decision is therefore reviewed for abuse of
discretion. ([People v.] Ramos, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 507.)” (RB 134.)

Rogers is in direct conflict in this regard with the controlling federal
constitutional law in this area. While in Rogers, this Court cites Drope v.
Missouri (1975) 420 U.S. 162, 181, in support of deference to the trial court,
in fact, nothing in Drope supports such a rule. It is clear that the question of
whether there is “substantial evidence” raising a doubt as to the competence
of the defendant is an objective question, not subject to any deference to the

trial court, nor does the trial court have any discretion to refuse to suspend
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proceedings and conduct a competency proceeding where substantial evidence
exists. (See AOB 134-138.)

The analysis upon which respondent relies applies if the evidence
raising a doubt of competence does not amount to “substantial evidence,” in
which case the decision is reviewed for abused of discretion. (People v. Welch
(1999) 20 Cal.4th 701, 742.) However, no deference is due to the trial court’s
contrary view when the evidence raising a doubt is substantial. (AOB 135,
170.) Nor can the trial court’s “opportunity to observe the defendant during
trial” overcome substantial evidence raising a doubt of the defendant’s
competence, some of which frequently occurs, as in this case, outside the
court’s presence. (AOB 156, 169-170.) No deference is due to the trial
court’s determinations if they are based upon an erroneous legal standard, for
reliance upon an erroneous legal standard constitutes an abuse of discretion in
and of itself, as does the arbitrary disregard of relevant evidence. (Inre Cortez
(1971) 6 Cal.3d 78, 85-86; Schiumpf'v. Superior Court (1978) 79 Cal.App.3d
892, 901.) Respondent fails to address these authorities.

As stated above, respondent’s position generally suggests that there is
at most a conflict in the evidence regarding appellant’s competence. As
demonstrated in the opening brief, “substantial evidence” of incompetence is
judged by an objective standard. It does not require that the evidence be
without conflict. (See, e.g., People v. Young (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1149, 1219;
People v. Welch, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 738.) Nor must the evidence be
sufficient to raise a subjective doubt regarding the defendant’s competence in
the mind of the trial judge. (See, e.g., People v. Jones (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1115,
1153 [“substantial evidence” is measured by an objective standard and, hence,
cannot be defeated by the trial court’s own observations of the defendant or the

judge’s subjective belief that he appears competent]; accord, e.g., Pennington,
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supra, 66 Cal.2d at p. 518; People v. Castro (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1415,
1402.) Respondent fails to address these authorities.

Respondent argues that the multiple psychological and psychiatric
declarations relating appellant’s psychiatric, neurological, developmental
and/or cognitive dysfunctions and deficits, and his consequent incompetence
at the time of the first trial, are insufficient, by themselves, to raise a doubt as
to appellant’s competence at the time of the proceedings in this case. (RB 136-
137.) Assuming arguendo that the evidence is insufficient, standing alone, to
raise a doubt, respondent does not establish that the evidence is inconsistent
with a doubt about appellant’s competence. Even under respondent’s analysis,
these mental health evaluations cannot be disregarded as irrelevant to the trial
court’s assessment of the objective evidence raising a doubt as to appellant’s
competence. At a minimum, when viewed with appellant’s behavior during
the retrial, the cumulative picture meets the statutory and constitutional
evidentiary foundation.

“IIn consideriﬁg the indicia of petitioner’s incompetence separately,
the state courts gave insufficient attention to the aggregate of those indicia .
... (Drope, supra, 420 U.S. at pp. 179-180 (emphasis added).)

We need not address the Court of Appeals’ conclusion that an
attempt to commit suicide does not create a reasonable doubt of
competence to stand trial as a matter of law. As was true of the
psychiatric evaluation, petitioner’s attempt to commit suicide
‘did not stand alone.” Moore v. United States, 464 F.2d 663, 666
(CA9 1972). We conclude that when considered together with
the information available prior to trial and the testimony of
petitioner’s wife at trial, the information concerning petitioner’s
suicide attempt created a sufficient doubt of his competence to
stand trial to require further inquiry on the question.

(Id. at p. 180.)

Respondent heavily relies on a characterization of appellant’s
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arguments in court as “cogent.” (See, e.g., RB 110, 111, 112, 11%, 129, 139,
142.) Respondent does not identify specific “cogent” arguments, however,
instead giving unexplained cites to selected transcript pages. Respondent does
not address the context or the remainder of those proceedings, which are not
“cogent,” and in fact support a doubt of appellant’s competence. Moreover,
even if a portion of appellant’s arguments might be considered “cogent,” or
even rationally based, such a circumstance presents only a conflict with the
other evidence of appellant’s irrational understanding, decisions, and behavior
in those same cited portions of the record, and must be read in light of all
appellant’s statements.

For example, respondent states that “during [early stages of pretrial]
proceedings, appellant fnade cogent arguments on a variety of legal issues.
(See, e.g. 2RT 21-35, 49-52, 91-111, 142-152.)” (RB 110.)

Among the “cogent arguments” appellant made during the cited
proceedings was his allegation of a conspiracy by a former appellate lawyer to
“sabotage” his case, with defense trial counsel .following the appellate lawyer’s
instructions and “pursuing his agenda.” (Marsden RT 92-93, 98-106, 668.)
Appellant’s rejection of his mental defense, upon which respondent repeatedly
relies, stems in part from his “cogent argument” that the defense was part of
that conspiratorial “agenda.” (See, Marsden RT 92-93.)

Another of appellant’s “cogent arguments” made during the
proceedings cited by respondent concern allegations of poisoned ants on the
cookies he was served in jail. (Marsden RT 108-109; AOB 145.) Another
was an allegation that Judge Hoff had been “executing a personal agenda”
against appellant in his rulings on this case. (MarsdenRT 527-539; AOB 145-
146.) Another was a complaint that defense counsel refused to subpoena

Justice Stanley Mosk and the three Ninth Circuit judges on the panel which
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granted relief in Bloom v. Calderon to explain the basis of their rulings.
(Marsden RT 101-102.) Respondent fails to explain how these are “cogent
argurhents” displaying a rational understanding of the proceedings and an
ability to consult with counsel rationally in the presentation of the defense.

| Respondent asserts that appellant “continued to challenge his attorneys’
strategy, making cogent arguments about the issues in his case. (See, e.g., 3RT
498-509; 4RT 666-671; 7RT 781, 822-925.)” (RB 111.)"" At the first cited
hearing, the challenges to the defense strategy and the “cogent arguments”
respondent references include objections to any mental defense because of
appellant’s stated beliefs that (1) “I’m not crazy,” and (2) the prosecution had
no evidence that he killed his stepmother and stepsister. (Marsden 501-503.)

Setting aside questions regarding the reliability of the former assertion,'? on -

""" Appellant assumes that respondent intended the last citation in the
string to be to Marsden RT 822-825, which comprise the entirety of a Marsden
hearing held on September 18, 2000, during voir dire. The following 100
pages consist of voir dire proceedings in which appellant did not address the
trial court, and appear to be included in the citation through a typographical
error.

12 As this Court recently recognized in a slightly different context:

The decision of a possibly incompetent defendant not to contest
the issue of his or her own competence is entitled to no such
credit. Indeed, such a decision ought to be considered inherently
suspect, especially when, as in the instant case, the evidence
before the court is in conflict regarding the defendant’s mental
competence. (Cf. People v. Samuel (1981) 29 Cal.3d 489, 495,
174 Cal.Rptr. 684, 629 P.2d 485 [“[I}f counsel represents a
defendant as to whose competence the judge has declared a
doubt sufficient to require a section 1368 hearing, he should not
be compelled to entrust key decisions about fundamental matters
to his client’s apparently defective judgment.”]; Bundy v.
Dugger (11th Cir.1987) 816 F.2d 564, 566, fn. 2 [“Whether the
(continued...)
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this record the latter assertion cannot be characterized reasonably as a “cogent
argument”; rather, it reflects an irrational understanding of the prosecution’s
evidence and of its probative force. Rather than address the irrationality
evident in appellant’s statements, respondent irresponsibly characterizes those
statements as “cogent arguments,” in the expectation or hope that this Court
will ignore the actual record evidence.

For example, among the “cogent arguments” appellant made in the
same hearing, but not included in the pages cited by respondent, were
appellant’s repeated references to Tonya Deetz, one of his defense counsel, as
“my consigliere” (Marsden RT 529, 532-533, 535), his directions to his
“consiglieré” to take various unrealistic steps to uncover and disclose to the
public Judge Hoff’s execution of “a personal agenda” against appellant
(Marsden RT 527-535), and his request to have Judge Hoff sanction Deetz
$27,000, which he asked the judge to then suspend because Deetz had two
babies at home “that she has to feed, clothe and put through college, so I don’t
want [her babies] to suffer because of a mistake in judgment made by their
mother.” (MarsdenRT 535.) On the other hand, appellant asked that his other
defense counsel, Seymour Applebaum, be fined one-million dollars

and, unlike Tonya — unlike Tonya — [ wanted this Court to
collect the fine. Seymour can write a check today or Seymour
can go to the bank Tuesday, because the banks are closed on
Monday. Seymour can go to the bank on Tuesday, September
5th and withdraw the million dollars from his savings account
to pay the fine.

12 (...continued)

defendant believed he was competent to stand trial is irrelevant
for, if a defendant is incompetent to stand trial, his belief that he
is able to do so is without import.”].)

(People v. Lightsey (2012) 54 Cal.4th 668, 697; see also Introduction, ante.)
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(Marsden RT 535-536.) Respondent does not directly address any of the
actual events of this hearing, or even attempt to explain how the full context
of these events supports a conclusion that appellant’s understanding of the
proceedings, or of the judicial system itself, was rational.

Other evidence respondent lumps into “cogent arguments” without
comment or explanation includes appellant’s announcement on the first day of
trial that Deetz had “submitted and tended [sic] her resignation as consigliere
to the principality of Israel. [{] I gave this matter careful deliberation over the
weeke’nd and informed Mrs. Deetz that I have decided to accept her
resignation as consigliere to the principality of Israel.” (Marsden RT 666.)
Appellant stated that Deetz had “chosen to abandon and betray me,” and
“allowed herself to be corrupted” by the conspiracy which appellant claimed
existed between prior appellate counsel and Applebaum. (Marsden RT 667.)
Appellant noted that Applebaum is Jewish and appellant likes him “on a
personal level, but his association with [prior appellate counsel] has corrupted
his soul and tainted his judgment on my case.” (Marsden RT 668.) While
these arguments may be expressive, characterizing them as “cogent” is an
unacceptable misrepresentation of the record.

Respondent refers to appellant’s statements in a Marsden hearing on the
day opening statements were to be given, again insisting on his own
competence and opposing defense counsel’s intent to present a mental defense,
“explain[ing] that he had suggested ‘several viable defenses as an alternative
to their mental defense’ but counsel had rejected his proposals.” (RB 111,
citing Marsden RT 1929-1934.) Respondent fails to address appellant’s stated
basis for those supposed “viable defenses,” i.e., that the prosecution’s evidence
that he had killed his stepmother and stepsister “is flimsy, inconsequential and

weak.” (Marsden RT 1931-1933.) Respondent again fails to explain how
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such a belief under these circumstances supports a conclusion that appellant’s
understanding of the proceedings, of the evidence, and of the decisions he
faced in these proceedings were rational.

According to respondent:

[t]hroughout the guilt phase, appellant continued to challenge
his attorneys’ handling of the mental defense. He also continued
to raise the issue of his self-representation at the penalty phase,
attempting to discuss discovery and other procedural issues, but
the court deferred those matters as premature. Again, appellant’s
arguments were substantial, articulate, and cogent.

(RB 112, citing 15RT 1951-1952; 17RT 2043-2064, 2225-2231; 21RT 2685-
2693; 24RT 3031-3037; 28RT 3614-3622; 29RT 3697-3701.) If respondent
means, in using the word “substantial,” that appellant was long-winded, then
the description is correct. Those arguments were articulate only in the sense
that appellant was able to read into the record sometimes lengthy, multi-
“article”'? prepared speeches (see, e.g., 15RT 1935-1940; see also 17RT 204 8-
2053 [appellant notes his motion is 90 percent written and 10 percent oral])
which were linguistically understandable for the most part. But these
characteristics do not render appellant’s statements and/or the positions he
took in those proceedings either “cogent” or indicative of competence within
the meaning of Drope and Dusky."*

Respondent’s record citations also include — although ignored by
respondent — statements by defense counsel of concerns about appellant’s

ongoing competence (15RT 1951-1952); appellant’s comment that he and

13 The written materials which appellant read into the record were
sometimes separated into “articles,” identified as such as appellant read the
document into the record. (See, e.g., 15RT 1936-1938; 40RT 4750-4751,
41RT 4820-4821.)

'* Dusky v. United States (1960) 362 U.S. 402.
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defense counsel Deetz are “barely on speaking terms with each other;” his
description of her as “a woman scorned” because he had made his motion to
represent himself at penaity against her advice (Marsden RT 2057, 2059);
appellant’s reference to that motion as a “judicial coup,” and his comments that:

... I executed my coup last Thursday, October 5th. And Mrs.
Deetz has a problem with that and she is just going to have to
get over it. [f] The only reason, the only reason I am sitting
next to this femme fatale is to give myself a tactical advantage
during the guilt phase and sanity phase of my trial.

(Marsden RT 2056-2057.)

Respondent references RB Argument XIII.A., addressing the denial of
appellant’s motion to reinstate his NGI plea (AOB Arg. V), in support of the
assertion that it is “obvious that appellant very well understood the
proceedings against him and was more than sufficiently able to consult with
his attorneys.” (RB 135.) However, respondent’s Argument XIII has no
subsection A., nor any subsections at all. (RB 178-181 .). Nor is there anything
specific in respondent’s Argument XIII which supports a conclusion that
appellant was “sufficiently able to consult with his attorneys.” The only
relevant point made in respondent’s Argument XIII is one which appellant has
acknowledged in the opening brief — that appellant had a basic facrual
understanding of the general nature of court proceedings, i.e., that he was on
trial for murder and was facing the death penalty and that his lawyers would
proffer several mens rea defenses.

In Argument XIII and in this argument respondent ignores that,
regardless of whether or not appellant had a basic factual understanding of the
proceedings, there is substantial evidence in this record raising a reasonable
doubt that appellant had a rational understanding of the proceedings sufficient

to make rational judgments and decisions, as necessary to the rational conduct
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of his case and the rational cooperation with counsel in the conduct of that
case. Appellant’s lack of understanding about the role of the sanity phase in
the prosecution’s attempt to have him sentenced to death provides substantial
evidence that raises a doubt of competence. The same is true of the evidence
that appellant had various psychiatric, psychological, neurological, cognitive
and/or developmental deficits and dysfunctions that were substantially relevant
to his case and substantially interfering with his judgment and his ability to
cooperate rationally with and assist counsel. Respondent’s only real response
is simply to dismiss that evidence summarily.

For the proposition that appellant’s understanding of the proceedings
and ability to consult with counsel were adequate, respondent also cites People
v. Ramos (2004) 34 Cal.4th 494, 507. (RB 135) However, Ramos r}lakes
appellant’s point quite clearly:

To be competent to stand trial, defendant must have “sufficient
present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable
degree of rational understanding” and “a rational as well as
factual understanding of the proceedings againsthim.” ([People
v.] Welch, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 737, 85 Cal.Rptr.2d 203, 976
P.2d 754, quoting Dusky v. United States (1960) 362 U.S. 402,
80 S.Ct. 788, 4 L.Ed.2d 824.)

(34 Cal.4th at p. 507 (emphasis added).) Controlling constitutional principles
recognize a distinction between a factual understanding of the proceedings and
a rational understanding of the proceedings. Neither the trial court nor
respondent appears cognizant of that distinction or its importance in this case.
Even if appellant appeared to have a factual understanding of the general
nature of the criminal proceedings, the evidence raises a reasonable, bona fide
doubt that his understanding was a rational one, unencumbered by the various
psychiatric, psychological, neurological, cognitive and/or developmental

deficits and dysfunctions which had afflicted him, some for his entire life.
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The facts of Ramos provide no support for respondent in the present
case. As recited by this Court, the rele{/ant evidence presented by Ramos’s
attorney prior to his pleading guilty to all charges and admitting the special
circumstances was as follows:

[Clounsel told the court that defendant wanted to receive the
death penalty and that after the entry of his guilty plea,
defendant would seek to have the penalty imposed. Counsel
informed the court that if he did not consent to defendant’s
proposed plea, defendant had threatened to remove him as
counsel. As evidence of defendant’s incompetence, counsel
introduced evidence of his prior criminal activity and his erratic
behavior while incarcerated, including his attacks on [a deputy]
at the Martinez Detention Facility, and his apparent hoarding of
medication for an alleged planned future suicide attempt.

(34 Cal.4th at p. 508.) This Court also indicated that the defendant had a
history of psychiatric treatment. (34 Cal.4th at p. 509.) That evidence bears
little relation to the substantial evidence raising a doubt of appellant’s
competence in the recbrd in this case.

Similarly, respondent relies upon People v. Hayes (1999) 21 Cal.4th
1211, 1282 to support the position that “nothing in the record suggests that at
any time during these proceedings appellant was unable to understand the
nature of the proceedings or to assist counsel in conducting the defense in a
rational manner.” (RB 135.) In Hayes, this Court did not describe the facts
assertedly supporting the claim of a doubt of incompetence, merely
characterizing the facts as “a litany of facts, none of which actually related to
his competence at the time of sentencing to understand the nature of the
proceeding or to rationally assist his counsel at that proceeding.” (21 Cal.4th
at pp. 1280-1281.) The same cannot be said of the showing in appellant’s case
of the substantial evidence raising a doubt of appellant’s competence. As set

forth in the opening brief, there is a direct nexus btween appellant’s mental
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health and behavior and defense counsel’s concerns and to the substantial
doubts concerning the rationality of appellant’s understanding of the
proceedings, of the decisions and judgments he had to make in those
proceedings, and concerning his ability to assist counsel rationally.

In Hayes, defense counsel never expressed a doubt as to the defendant’s
competence. (21 Cal.4th at p. 1282.) Defense counsel here did express a
doubt as to appellant’s competence eventually, and before that declaration
made many representations which put the trial court on notice that substantial
doubt existed concerning appellant’s ability to assist counsel rationally. (See
AOB 150-151.)

In Hayes, this Court also relied upon that defendant’s actions as
cocounsel during the penalty trial, and his “presentation of several presentence
motions and arguments in support thereof demonstrate beyond any doubt that
he was fully aware of the nature of the proceedings and able to assist counsel.”
(21 Cal.4th at p. 1282.) Nothing in the Court’s opinion suggests that
defendant’s performance in that case revealed any of the distorted
understandings of the proceedings and the irrational decisim?making as
displayed by appellant. Every case must be evaluated on its own specific facts:

The import of our decision in Pate v. Robinson is that evidence
of a defendant’s irrational behavior, his demeanor at trial, and
any prior medical opinion on competence to stand trial are all
relevant in determining whether further inquiry is required, but
that even one of these factors standing alone may, in some
circumstances, be sufficient. There are, of course, no fixed or
immutable signs which invariably indicate the need for further
inquiry to determine fitness to proceed; the question is often a
difficult one in which a wide range of manifestations and subtle
nuances are implicated. That they are difficult to evaluate is
suggested by the varying opinions trained psychiatrists can
entertain on the same facts.
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(Drope v. v. Missouri, supra, 420 U.S. at p. 180.)

Respondent argues that “appellant’s ‘odd’ and allegedly ‘paranoid’
behavior cannot support his incompetency claim” (RB 136), again citing
People v. Ramos, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 508; People v. Lewis (2008) 43
Cal.4th 415, 524; People v. Rogers (2006) 39 Cal.4th 826, 847; and People v.
Ramirez (2006) 39 Cal.4th 398, 467. That assertion is incorrect. (See Drope,
supra, 420 U.S. at p. 180 [irrational behavior is not only relevant in
determining whether further inquiry is required, but standing alone may, in
some circumstances, be sufficient].) Moreover, appellant has never relied
solely on appellant’s behavior, but on the cumulative effect of all of the
evidence, behavioral and otherwise, in the record which raises a doubt as to his
competence. Respondent’s compartmentalizing of the evidence into discrete
categories and argument that each standing alone is insufficient to raise a
doubt of appellant’s competence misses the mark and is legally flawed; this
Court must consider the “aggregate of those indicia” of incompetence.
(Drope, supra, 420 U.S. at p. 180.)

Respondent attempts to dismiss the obvious irrationality of and
cognitive deficits inherent in appellant’s decisions and behavior as merely
“misguided,” “unwise,” “foolish,” or “eccentric.” (See, e.g., RB 135 [“it is
obvious that appellant behaved eccentrically”].) Perhaps standing alone,
analyzed in isolation, bereft of appellant’s mental health history and brain
damage, such characterizations might be superficially reasonable. However,
those matters do not stand alone. They must be reviewed through the lens of
appellant’s psychiatric, psychological, neurological, developmental and/or

cognitive deficits and dysfunctions which underlay his behavior and motivated
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his ability to make rational decisions."® Seen in this light, labels such as
“unwise” or “misguided” smacks of analysis by adjective rather than a
reasoned determination based on the evidence.

People v. Medina (1995) 11 Cal.4th 694, 735, also cited by respondent
(RB 135), determined only that continued cursing and other disruptive
conduct, leading to the removal from the courtroom of a defendant who had
already been adjudicated competent, displayed an unwillingness to assist in his
defense, but did not in that case “necessarily bear on his competence to do s0.”
While that may have been true in Medina, here there was no adjudication of
appellant’s competence and therefore it is not a reasonable characterization of
the evidence in this case. Nor does Medina stand for the proposition that
irrational behavior is inconsistent with a reasonable doubt of competence.

In discussing the evidence adduced at Robinson’s trial, the
Court [in Pate v. Robinson (1966) 383 U.S. 375] did, however,
indicate that a history of irrational behavior is a relevant factor
which, on the record before it, was sufficient to require further
inquiry notwithstanding Robinson’s demeanor at trial and the
stipulated opinion of a psychiatrist that Robinson knew the
nature of the charges against him and could cooperate with
counsel when the psychiatrist examined him two or three months
before.

(Drope v. Missouri, supra, 420 U.S. at p. 182, fn. 9.)

| Sirhilarly, respondent’s assertion “[n]or can any instances of disruptive
behavior or unwillingness to assist his attorneys support his competency claim,
since mere belligerence does not show an inability to assist in his defense” (RB
136) encompasses a description that does not match the situation before the
court. To be sure, simple disruptive behavior or mere belligerence alone may

not in most cases be sufficient to raise a doubt of competence, al{hough again

15 See Introduction, ante.
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Drope indicates that either can be sufficient standing alone in some instances.
(420 U.S. at p. 180.)

In People v. Lewis (2008) 43 Cal.4th 415, cited by respondent on this
point, the behavior consisted of an isolated instance of outbursts by the
defendant in relation to a particular witness and a request by defense counsel
for a neurological workup and a BEAM scan based on a psychologist’s letter
indicating probable brain damage and abnormal brain function. (/d. at pp. 523-
524.) That factual scenario does not correspond to the breadth and depth of
the evidence on this record raising a doubt of appellant’s competence.

Appellant agrees that simple “unwillingness” to assist counsel is
generally insufficient standing alone to raise a doubt of competence.
However, merely characterizing a defendant’s disagreements with counsel or
refusals to cooperate as “unwillingness” to assist is analysis by buzzword,
without substance. If the evidence before the court raises a doubt whether
such disagreement, refusal, or unwillingness may represent an inability to
cooperate and has as its root psychiatric, psychological, neurological, cognitive
and/or developmental deficits and dysfunctions, as it does here, merely
assigning a vconclusory and uninformative mischaracterization of
“unwillingness” will not change the constitutional calculus that requires the
suspension of proceedings and the conduct of proceedings to determine
competence under section 1368.

There is a wealth of additional evidence in the record here not presented
in the 1984 competence trial, including the results of mental health evaluations
conducted contemporaneously or even before the prior trial, but which were
not available to the experts testifying at the 1984 competence trial due to prior
counsel’s incompetent performance. As a result, the only effect the 1984

competence verdict could have, even if it had any reliability, is to present a
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conflict in the evidence on this record. Again, such a conflict is insufficient
to override the substantial evidence in the record raising a doubt of appellant’s
competence in 2000.

The mental health evidence presented to the trial court here concerning
the first trial constitutes substantial evidence that appellant was incompetent
at the prior trial, and was uncontradicted on that point. The basis of the expert
opinions regarding the first trial were appellant’s long-standing, lifelong
impairments including brain-damage, which impairments are not expected to
change. Even the prosecutor acknowledged on retrial that the logical
conclusion was that if appellant was incompetent at the prior trial, he was
probably incompetent at the retrial.'®

Respondent contends that the prosecutor’s acknowledgment is not
binding on the trial court. (RB 136-137, fn. 64.) Regardless of whether it is
binding or not, respondent presents no legal or logical reason for dismissing
the prosecutor’s position as irrelevant or as an unreasonable inference from the
evidence. The prosecutor acknowledged the relevance, materiality, and
probative value of the evidence of appellant’s prior competence on the
question of whether there was a doubt of appellant’s competence at the retrial.

In combination with other evidence, substantial doubt of appellant’s

If the defendant was incompetent in 1983, there’s
no reason to believe that he’s not incompetent
today. Nothing has happened between 1983 and
today that would in any way cure the defendant
or help his mental state in any way. Ifhe was not
capable then of understanding the proceedings
and aiding his attorney, then he is probably not
capable now.

(2RT 203.)
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competence is evident.

Respondent presents no basis for concluding that the expert testimony
presented at the retrial is irrelevant to the consideration of appellant’s
competence. Instead, respondent relies upon an asserted lack of evidence
connecting appellant’s deficits and dysfunctions to his ability to consult with
counsel rationally. (See, RB 135-137.) There are a number of flaws in this
argument.

First, the purported absence of any expert evidence explicitly
connecting appellant’s various deficits and dysfunctions to his ability to
rationally consult with counsel during the proceedings at issue here is primarily
due to the trial court’s refusal to appoint experts to assess that very question.

Second, there is substantial evidence in the record connecting those
deficits and dysfunctions to appellant’s ability to consult rationally with
counsel. This includes defense counsel’s repeated reference to questions about
appellant’s ability to consult rationally with counsel, and repeated statements
that counsel’s questions about appellant’s ability stem from his deficits and
dysfunctions. (See AOB 150-151.) This also includes Dr. Vicary’s opinion
linking appellant’s serious mental illness and brain dysfunctions directly to his
lack of competence at the prior trial proceedings. (AOB 35-37; 28RT 3447-
3451; 2CT 280-284.)

Third, inherent in the testimony and evidence regarding appellant’s
deficits and dysfunctions is the inexorable conclusion, or at the very least a
rational inference from the evidence, that those deficits and dysfunctions
inevitably interfered with his ability to consult rationally with counsel.

Fourth, People v. Hayes, supra, upon which respondent relies on this
point, does not support respondent’s position. As appellant demonstrated

above, the facts as set forth in this Court’s opinion in Hayes about the
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defendant in that case bear no similarity to appellant’s case.

Finally, respondent ignores record evidence directly linking appellant’s
impairments with his understanding and with his ability to consult rationally
with counsel. For example, at Marsden RT 506, defense counsel directly
linked appellant’s difficulties with counsel to his mental illness: “I personally
think it’s part of his illness of how he perceives things and how he processes
information due to some neuropsychiatric difficulties that he has, temporal
lobe problems.” Respondent ignores the circumstances of appellant’s
attempted “recusal” of Judge Hoff which led to the judge recusing himself
from this case ten days prior to the start of trial, directly interfering with
defense counsel’s conduct of the case. (See Marsden RT 537-538.)

Respondent’s characterization of appellant’s behavior or arguments
does not accurately reflect appellant’s statements in context; it masks the
extent to which the impairments about which the experts opined interfered
with appellant’s ability to consuit rationally with defense counsel.

Respondent acknowledges that there is evidence supporting the fact that
appellant’s high verbal ability did not reflect his actual proﬂounced cognitive
deficits, citing a portion of Dr. Watson’s testimony and portions of Dr.
Vicary’s testimony. (RB 141.) Respondent dismisses the relevance of this
testimony on the grounds that “[t]hese opinions largely concerned appellant’s
mental defense and not the issue of competence directly. To that extent the
opinions do not support a finding of incompetence.” (RB 142.)

That the opinions were expressed in the context of testimony supporting
appellant’s mental defense, not competence to stand trial directly, is due in
large part to the fact that none of the experts were asked about competence,
and the trial court failed to comply with its constitutional responsibility to

convene proceedings where the issue of competence could be directly
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addressed. More important, their testimony about appellant’s disorders, his
mental processes, and his behavioral manifestations are relevant to his mental
functioning whether that functioning relates to past or current functioning. In
Drope v. Missouri, supra, 420 U.S. 162, the United States Supreme Court
found similar circumstances militating toward requiring further inquiry into the

defendant’s competence, not relieving the trial court of its duty to conduct such
inquiry.
It does not appear that the examining psychiatrist was asked to
address himselfto medical facts bearing specifically on the issue
‘of petitioner’s competence to stand trial, as distinguished from
his mental and emotional condition generally. Thus, it is not
surprising that before this Court the dispute centers on the
inferences that could or should properly have been drawn from
the report. Even where the issue is in focus we have recognized
‘the uncertainty of diagnosis in this field and the tentativeness
of professional judgment.” Greenwood v. United States, 350
U.S. 366, 375, 76 S.Ct. 410, 415, 100 L.Ed. 412 (1956). Here
the inquiry is rendered more difficult by the fact that a
defendant’s mental condition may be relevant to more than one
- legal issue, each governed by distinct rules reflecting quite
different policies. See Jackson v. Indiana, 406 U.S. 715,739, 92
S.Ct. 1845, 1858, 32 L..Ed.2d 435 (1972); Pate v. Robinson, 383
U.S., at 388-389, 86 S.Ct. 836, 843-844, 15 L.Ed.2d 815
(Harlan, J., dissenting); Weihofen, The Definition of Mental
Illness, 21 Ohio St.L.J. 1 (1960). ... However, at that stage, and
with the obvious advantages of hindsight, it seems to us that it
would have been, at the very least, the better practice to order an
immediate examination under Mo.Rev.Code § 552.020(2)
(1969).

(420 U.S. at pp. 176-177.)

Moreover, the testimony of Dr. Watson and Dr. Vicary is directly
relevant to the reasonableness of, and reliability of, the trial court’s own
reliance on appellant’s verbal abilities, i.e., that he was “articulate,” in

determining that the court was “not convinced” that appellant was
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incompetent.

In addition, while Dr. Vicary’s testimony and opinion were introduced
in the context of appellant’s mental defense at guilt, his original examination
of appellant was in the context of the flawed 1984 competence determination,
and he expressly stated that he had been fooled at the time appellant’s verbal
abilities, and erroneously reached the conclusion that he was competent at that
time. (28RT 3522-3524.) In light of additional evidence obtained thereafter,
Dr. Vicary testified that he believed that appellant had been incompetent at the
time. (28RT 3447-3449; see also 2CT 280-284.) Thus, Dr. Vicary’s testimony
and opinion directly connect that aspect of appellant’s behavior and his
impairments to the issue of competence, albeit at an earlier time.

The evidence of appellant’s deficits and dysfunctions, upon which Dr.
Vicary based his more-informed opinion that appellant was incompetent in
1984, was to the effect that those deficits and dysfunctions were long-standing,
raising a substantial doubt as to appellant’s competence in these proceedings
as well as the first proceedings.

Regardless of whether the testimony and declarations of the various
defense mental health experts were expressly directed to the question of
competence at the retrial, the evidence provided in that and other mental health
evidence in the record identifying deficits and dysfunctions in appellant’s
intellectual and cognitive functioning, his mental illnesses, delusions and
psychoses, and his inability to interact socially, all related to concepts directly
relevant to his ability to comprehend the proceedings rationally and to assist
counsel rationally in the conduct of his defense. The overwhelming weight of
the expert opinions about the various deficits and dysfunctions based on
multiple examinations and neuropsychological testing as well as by the

substantial medical, psychological, psychiatric, and educational records
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reviewed by the experts cannot be equated, as respondent suggests, to the
nonspecific letter in People v. Lewis, supra, “recommend[ing] testing [] to
confirm the existence of the alleged brain damage and to learn more about ‘the
origins of [defendant’s] violent behavior’ so as to serve ‘the interests of
justice’ and determine if defendant’s behavior could be controlled with
medication.” (43 Cal.4th at p. 525.)

To the extent that respondent relies on the fact that no specific expert
testimony was given on the issue of appellant’s present competence at the
retrial, none of the experts was asked to opine on the issue except for Dr.
Sharma, who indicated his inability to render an opinion one way or the other
due to appellant’s irrational refusal to cooperate in an evaluation during the
penalty phase. That there is no explicit expert testimony or opinion that
appellant was presently incompetent at the retrial is the result of the trial
court’s error in refusing, despite substantial evidence raising a doubt as to
appellant’s competence, to suspend proceedings and order expert evaluations
on the question. It is a consequence of the trial court’s error, not an excuse for
it.

Respondent cites, inter alia, People v. Rogers, supra, 39 Cal.4th at pp.
848-849, for the proposition that because the expert testimony of Drs. Watson
and Vicary “largely concerned appellant’s mental defense and not the issue of
competence directly, . . . the opinions do not support a finding of incompetence.”
(RB 142.) As explained, none of the cases cited suggest that such expert
testimony is irrelevant to the determination of whether the record raises a
reasonable doubt of a defendant’s competence. But Rogers is illustrative of
the difference between the cumulative weight of the evidence in appellant’s
case from those cases in which the failure or refusal to conduct a competence

inquiry has been sustained by this Court.

69




In Rogers, this Court relied in part on the fact that defense counsel in
that case did not declare any doubt of the defendant’s competence. (39 Cal.4th
at p. 848.) Here, in contrast, defense counsel made numerous representations
to the trial court which indicated that appellant was incompetent, but that
defense counsel had an erroneous understanding of the standard for
competence. Moreover, defense counsel here eventually did declare a doubt
as to appellant’s competence. (See AOB 128-129, 150-151, 154-157.) This
case is readily distinguishable from Rogers.

Similarly, in Rogers, this Court relied upon thé fact that while the
experts in that case testified that the defendant had a dissociative disorder,
“InJo medical expert, however, testified defendant was likely to dissociate
during the trial.” (39 Cal.4th at pp. 848-849.) In contrast, here Dr. Vicary did
testify that under stress, such as a trial for his life, appellant could “snap,”
which Vicary said meant appellant could begin to dissociate, could lose his
coping ability and judgment, could begin to have emotional eruptions, or
could begin to engage in progressively more illogical thinking. (28RT
3449-3450, 3494-3495, 3517-3519; see AOB 157.)

Again, in Rogers, this Court relied upon the fact that “there was nothing
in [that defendant’s] testimony that would have caused the trial court to
question whether he was unable to understand the proceedings or cooperate
with counsel.” (39 Cal.4th at p. 849.) In contrast, appellant’s testimony and
numerous dialogs with the court here provided ample basis for questioning the
rationality of his understanding of the proceedings, or the rationality of his
understanding of presenting a defense either representing himself or with
counsel.

Respondent provides no basis justifying the trial court’s disregard of the

mental health evidence and fails to address appellant’s arguments that the
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disregard of that evidence constituted an abuse of discretion.

Respondent attacks the reliability of Dr. Vicary based on “his
probationary status and shifting opinions,” (RB 142) despite the
uncontradicted evidence that during his three-year probation with the
California Medical Board, Dr. Vicary testified as an expert for both
prosecutors and defense attorneys. He testified as an expert during this period
for the Los Angeles County District Attorney’s Office, which was prosecuting
appellant in this case.'” (28RT 3501, 3508.)

Respondent’s characterization of Vicary’s testimony as showing
“shifting opinions” is misleading. Vicary’s testimony demonstrates that the
revision of his expert opinion concerning appellant’s competence in 1984 and
his overall mental health then and since was based upon his review of
substantial historical medical, psychiatric, psychological, social, and
educational records concerning appellant. These documents had never been
provided to Dr. Vicary (or any of the other expert witnesses) at the time of his
initial 1984 examination of appellant or prior to his 1984 testimony, due to the
ineffective investigation of appellant’s medical and mental health history by

appellant’s defense counsel at the 1984 competence hearing.'® In that sense,

17" As the prosecutor argued in objecting to examination of Dr. Vicary
concerning the circumstances underlying his probationary status, “I don’t
believe he should now be allowed to go into it and try to justify it or minimize
it. It’s what it is. He’s on probation. He’s already said he testified for the
D.A. when he’s on probation, so I mean obviously based on that it’s not so
important.” (28RT 3504 (emphasis added).)

'8 See Bloom v. Calderon, supra, 132 F.3d 1267. Because the basis of
the grant of relief in the Ninth Circuit was counsel’s ineffective investigation,
preparation, and presentation of mental health evidence at the guilt phase of
appellant’s prior trial, the court did not need to address that attorney’s

(continued...)
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his most recent opinions were better informed. Even so, as Dr. Vicary
explained, in his 1984 evaluation of appellant and his testimony at the 1984
competence hearing, he was not fully confident in his conclusion that appellant
was able to assist counsel rationally in his defense. (See AOB 116; see also
2CT 259-260; 28RT 3445-3446.) After review of the additional crucial
historical information, he concluded that appellant had not been able to
rationally assist counsel. (See AOB 35-37; 2CT 280-284.)

Respondent also relies frequently on the trial court’s repeated rejections
of any doubt of appellant’s competence. Respondent has no answer for the
authorities cited in appellant’s opening brief demonstrating the trial court’s
personai belief in the competence of defendant was not éufﬁcient to override
the substantial evidence raising a doubt of competence. Respondent’s
argument that the trial court could properly rely on its own subjective
assessment of appellant’s competence and refuse to credit expert opinion
ignores the controlling authority cited in the opening brief to the contrary. A
trial court’s subjective assessment of a defendant cannot override substantial
evidence raising a reasonable doubt as to that defendant’s competence.
(People v. Jones (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1115, 1153; People v. Pennington (1967)
66 Cal.2d 508, 518; Odle v. Woodford (9th Cir. 2001) 238 F.3d 1084, 1089;
AOB 137,156, 169-170.) Respondent does not acknowledge or address these
authorities. Instead, respondent argues that:

A court is not required to accept an expert’s opinion that a
defendant is incompetent, particularly where the court finds the
expert opinion “less than credible,” and the record discloses that

18 (...continued)
investigation, preparation, and presentation of mental health evidence at the
1984 competence trial. Yet it is clear from the record that the ineffectiveness
of defense counsel extended through the competence trial and verdict.
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underlying the competency claim are “various tactics to delay
and derail the trial.” (People v. Lewis & Oliver (2006) 39
Cal.4th 970, 1047-1048.)

(RB 142.)

The expert opinions and defense counsel’s concerns in appellant’s case
cannot fairly be characterized in the same manner as in Lewis & Oliver.
Nothing in Lewis & Oliver or any other case cited by respondent suggests that
a trial court can disregard expert opinion arbitrarily or capriciously, based on
its own subjective bias, based on an erroneous legal standard, or in what
amounts to an abuse of its discretion. In Lewis & Oliver, there were
conflicting expert opinions directly addressing the defendant’s competence,
and the trial court there identified specific flaws in the report and opinion of
the one expert who opined that the defendant was incompetent. (39 Cal.4th at
pp. 1046-1048.) Lewis & Oliver does not stand for the proposition that a trial
court can substitute its own view of the defendant’s mental health on some
personally held but fallacious belief about the credibility of (defense) mental
health experts. Respondent fails to address or answer the arguments in the
AOB demonstrating the trial court’s abuse of discretion in this case. (See
AOB 168-169.)

Respondent unsuccessfully equates the trial court’s reliance on its own
interpretations of appellant’s behavior and decisions in the courtroom with the
“brief reference to the defendant’s demeanor” in Ramos, supra, 34 Cal.4th at
p. 509. (RB 143.) The trial court’s reliance on its own interpretations was not
a brief reference or make-weight factor, but was almost the whole basis for its
refusal to conduct any inquiry into appellant’s competence, or even appoint
doctors to assist the court. The trial court repeatedly referenced its own

interpretations, preferring them over any and all relevant expert opinion and
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the opinions of defense counsel. (See AOB 168-169.) Respondent fails to
address these examples of the trial court’s use of an erroneous legal standard
and arbitrary rejection of relevant and probative expert opinion.

Respondent argues that the requirement of the appointment of the
director of a regional center for the developmentally disabled to evaluate
appellant would only become relevant after the defendant has been found
incompetent. (RB 143, fn. 66.) In fact, those provisions of section 1369 direct
the appointment of the director of a regional center upon a finding of a doubt
of a defendant’s competence, not upon the ultimate deterrfnination of
competence. Thus they applied here, for the substantial evidence raising a
doubt of appellant’s competence required, as a matter of law, a finding of such
a doubt, and necessarily triggered the provision of that section.

Moreover, the provisions of section 1369 have a more pervasive
relevance to the determination of appellant’s competence, and demonstrate a
serious flaw in the trial court’s evaluation of appellant’s behavior and
decisions. This Court in People v. Leonard (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1370, 1385-
1393, recognized section 1369’s provisions as a legislative recognition of
material differences between the evaluation of more common psychiatric
illnesses and the evaluation of developmental diéabilities, such as autism-
spectrum disorders and mental retardation, as well as distinctions in the
qualifications of experts called upon to make those evaluations. (See AOB
138-139.)

Similarly, although the trial judge unreasonably believed she was a
more reliable diagnostician than the experts whose opinions are part of the
record here, the specifics of certain of appellant’s dysfunctions and deficits —
e.g., his deficits in empathy and social relations, including impairment of his

ability to read social cues, such as emotional context or facial cues, and to
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process emotions and a lack of social or emotional reciprocity; the striking and
extremely unusual disparity between his verbal and performance IQ scores;
restricted, repetitive patterns of behavior, interests, and activities — are,
according to those experts, of a type which the legislature has recognized as
requiring specific expertise to evaluate. There is no evidence that the trial
court had any expertise, or experience, in evaluating these deficits and
dysfunctions. Yet the trial court alone determined that those deficits and
dysfunctions did not raise a doubt of the rationality of appellant’s
understanding of the proceedings, his ability to assist counsel in presenting a
defense or to prepare and present a defense on his own, or his decisionmaking
during these proceedings.

Respondent ignores or mischaracterizes aspects of the evidence that
raised a doubt of appellant’s competence. For example, respondent
summarizes defense counsel’s several references to questions about appellant’s
competence as follows:

defense counsel at the retrial expressed concern about
appellant’s competence (while not expressly declaring a doubt
pursuant to section 1358 (sic)) . . . [and] defense counsel
informed the court that appellant had become “increasingly
agitated” after having stopped taking his prescribed medication.

(RB 135.) No mention is made of appellant’s demonstration that defense
counsel’s failure to declare a doubt of appellant’s competence was due to a
mistaken understanding of the law governing appellant’s right to be tried only
if competent. (See AOB 154-156.) Respondent does quote part of defense
counsel’s statements that he “would have declared a 1368 doubt eons ago”
(RB 112), but omits crucial portions of counsel’s explanation:

[T]he second prong [is] the ability to cooperate with counsel in
a rational manner so as to prepare a defense, but for the unique
posture of this case, I believe Mr. Bloom would be incompetent.
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.. .[B]ecause of the unique posture of this case, I don’t need to
talk to Mr. Bloom about facts, I don’t need to talk to him about
strategy. In many ways this was laid out because of the
voluminous materials in preparation that arose out of the various
appeals and ultimately the habeas proceedings and what the
lawyers and the various mental health professionals did, our
predecessors did. SoI don’t need Mr. Bloom to cooperate with
me in that sense. . . . [I]f this were a different type of case in
terms of how it came to us, vis-a-vis the preparation that needed
to be done, where I needed to confer with the client, needed to
plan strategy with the client, I would have declared a 1368 doubt
eons ago . ... I don’t want to be accused of sandbagging in any
way, shape or form, but it’s something that’s troubled us, I’ve
alluded to it before, and, quite truthfully, if there is interference
where he is in my view not cooperating with preparation of the
case in a rational way, where he starts interfering with the
tactical process, my view is that I will have to declare a doubt
and then we’ll do what we do.

(15RT 1948-1950 (emphasis added).)

_ Appellant demonstrated in the opening brief‘ that this view of
competence, centered as it was on the attorney’s perceived needs rather than
the defendant’s rights to not be tried unless competent, undermined the value
of defense counsel’s conclusion that, while appellant “has always been skirting
the edges of . . . 1368 Penal Code incompetence” (15RT 1948), counsel did not
need him to be competent, and that he would therefore withhold a declaration
of a doubt. (AOB 154-155.) Respondent ignores this portion of appellant’s
argument and instead asserts that nothing in the record actually relates to
appellant’s competence to rationally assist counsel. (See e.g., RB 136-137.)
Further, respondent appears to rely upon the failure of defense counsel to say
the magic words as evidence that appellant was in fact competent, without
addressing the demonstration of counsel’s error and counsel’s contrary view

that appellant’s incompetence did not affect counsel’s ability to represent him.
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Respondent argues that the declaration of doubt was a tactic to delay
and derail the trial (RB 142), but does not explain how this is so. Nor does
respondent explain how defense counsel’s failure to declare a doubt about
appellant’s competence until there was a perceived and reported change in his
behavior during the sanity phase, or defense counsel’s refusal to consent to
appellant’s irrational decision to withdraw his NGI plea amounted to “tactics
to delay and derail the trial.”"® The “tactics to delay and derail the trial”
referenced in People v. Lewis & Oliver, supra, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1047, were
actions )taken by the defendant and co-defendant in that case, not the actions
taken by defense counsel. Moreover, the record unequivocally establishes that
defense counsel’s failure to declare a doubt of appellant’s competence before
they did was based on an erroneous legal standard, and that, in fact, defense
counsel had an actual doubt of appéllant’s competence throughout these
proceedings, including well before the start of the trial before J udge Schempp.
(See AOB 154-156.)

In addition, there is no substantial support for any finding that the

expert testimony and declarations were presented as a “tactic[] to delay and

' Cf. Drope v. Missouri, supra, 420 U.S. at p. 177, fn. 13:

The sentencing judge observed that ‘motions for psychiatric
examinations have often been made merely for the purpose of
delay, and ‘estimated that almost seventy-five percent of those
sent for psychiatric examinations are returned mentally
competent.” App. 202. Although we do not, of course, suggest
that courts must accept without question a lawyer’s
representations concerning the competence of his client, see
United States ex rel. Rizzi v. Follette, 367 F.2d 559, 561 (CA2
 1966), an expressed doubt in that regard by one with ‘the closest
contact with the defendant,” Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375,
391, 86 S.Ct. at 845 (1966) (Harlan, J., dissenting), is
unquestionably a factor which should be considered.
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derail the trial.” The testimony of Drs. Watson, Mills, Vicary, and Wolfson
was integral to appellant’s mental state defense. The declarations of Drs.
Weiland, Vicary, Kivowitz, Lisak, and Verin were submitted pretrial in
support of arguments to exclude prior testimony from the first, flawed trial and
for curative measures to prevent prejudice to appellant from prior counsel’s
ineffective assistance. (2CT 124-401; see AOB 105-111.)

Given trial counsel’s repeated warnings of concerns about appellant’s
competence, especially taking into account the erroneous standard counsel was
employing in stating that appellant was competent up through the sanity phase,
and given counsel’s declaration of a doubt based upon changes in appellant’s
behavior in interactions with counsel outside of the courtroom after appellant
had absented himself from the s'anity phase, and given the facial irrationality
of appellant’s decision to withdraw his plea of NGI, there is no basis for any
determination that the evidence raising a doubt about appellant’s was part of
any “tactic[] to delay and derail the trial.” Respondent’s implicit suggestion
that, once appellant was allowed to represent himself, some of his behaviors
became part of “tactics to delay and derail the trial,” is contradicted by the
record; had appellant wanted to delay the trial, he had only to keep his NGI
plea in place and agree to a retrial of the sanity phase. Similarly, why, if
appellant wanted to delay or derail the trial did he so vehemently reject the
concept that he was mentally ill, and fight so hard against the concept that he
might be incompetent? Suspension of the proceedings would clearly have
delayed the trial, and probably have substantially derailed further prosecution
of the case upon the probable jury finding that he was incompetent due to his
demonstrated psychiatric, psychological, neurological, cognitive and
developmental deficits and dysfunctions. Respondent’s suggestion that there

was evidence supporting a finding of “tactics to delay and derail the trial” has
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no factual basis in the record or the realities of these proceedings.

Moreover, appellant’s personal behavior during the penalty phase, even
if intended to “disrupt or delay” the proceedings, was not thereby
automatically inconsistent with incompetence. If such behavior, even if
arguably goal-directed, arose from an irrational understanding of the
proceedings or his role in those proceedings, as is the most likely explanation
of almost all of his behavior throughout the proceedings, it is itself evidence,
especially in context with all of the other evidence, that appellant was not
competent to stand trial.

That suspension of proceedings at any point would have delayed the
trial, or “derailed” the prosecution of appellant is not a consideration sufficient
to prevent the enforcement of appellant’s due process right not to tried, let
alone sentenced to death, while incapable of a rational understanding of the
proceedings or of rationally assisting counsel in the presentation of his case.

2. There was substantial evidence raising
a doubt that appellant was incompetent
prior to the jury’s verdict in the sanity
phase

In the opening brief, appellant demonstrated that beyond the evidence
in the record before the guilt verdicts, additional evidence continued to mount,
raising a doubt of appellant’s competence. (AOB 157-161.)

Respondent’s characterization of the additional evidence arising during
the sanity phase is incomplete and ignores substantial aspects of appellant’s
argument. Respondent also fails to acknowledge that the claim is not based on
the additional evidence alone, but on that evidence in combination with the
evidence discussed in the previous section. Respondent analyzes the evidence
in the abstract and in isolation, without regard to the evidence presented prior

to the sanity phase.
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Dr. Vicary’s guilt phase testimony that appellant might “snap” under the
stress of the trial continued to be important in explaining appellant’s behavior
and decisions after the guilt phase and throughout the sanity and penalty
phases, and in providing background to defense counsel’s declaration of a
doubt that appellant remained competent after “substantial changes” during the
days appellant was absent from court during the sanity phase. (36RT 4523.)

Respondent argues that Dr. Vicary’s opinion regarding the likelihood
that appellant would “snap” under stressful conditions did not raise a doubt
about appellant’s competence. (RB 138.) Again, respondent analyzes this
evidence in isolation, and rather than in context with the othé:r evidence
relevant to that question. In the abstract, standing alone, such an opinion
would not constitute substantial evidence raising a doubt of a defendant’s
competence. However, it did not stand alone, and was not a statement made
without foundation or intended to be considered in the abstract. It was an
opinion of a qualified expert who had personally examined appellant and had
reviewed his substantial medical, mental health, educational, and social
history. Dr. Vicary’s testimony was an opinion describing potential outcomes
resulting from appellant’s specific constellation of deficits, dysfunctions, and
illnesses, in the context of that history. There was evidence, discussed in the
opening brief, which provided context to the opinion, raising a doubt, even
assuming arguendo that appellant was competent through the guilt phase,
whether he remained so by the end of the sanity phase.

Respondent argues that “nothing showed that appellant had in fact
‘snapped.”” (RB 138.) However, respondent does not address either Dr.
Vicary’s explanation of his opinion or explain the evidence discussed in the
opening brief which strongly indicates some change in appellant’s mental state

during this time period consistent with that opinion. Nor does respondent
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address the trial court’s duty to watch for changes in a defendant’s mental state
as a trial goes on, especially where the trial court has been put on notice that
the trial itself may result in some deterioration of the defendant’s mental state,
including his competence. (See AOB 157-158.)

Respondent ignores Dr. Vicary’s actual testimony, as well as the
context. Dr. Vicary had opined that under stress, such as the stress of the trial,
and particularly the stress of listening to mental health experts testify that he
was mentally ill, appellaﬁt could have a psychotic break, could begin to
dissociate, could lose his coping ability and judgment, could begin to have
emotional eruptions, or could begin to engage in progressively more illogical
thinking. (28RT 3449-3450, 3494-3495, 3499, 3517-3519.) All of this
occurred as the sanity phase wound down and throughout the penalty phase.
In addition, respondent ignores defense counsel’s statement that in the
preceding couple of days, during which appellant was in the presence of
neither the trial court nor the prosecutor,” but during which defense counsel
spent time with appellant outside of court, there had been “substantial
changes” in appellant (36RT 4523) and that although counsel thought he had
been marginally competent, “My view is there’s been a change. He —1I just do
not feel he’s able to cooperate at this point with counsel and I believe it is due
to a mental illness.” (36RT 4524; AOB 157-161.)

Respondent dismisses the relevance of appellant absenting himself from
the sanity phase, citing People v. Ramirez (2006) 39 Cal.4th 398, 465-466 for
the proposition that such voluntary absence “does not provide substantial
evidence of incompetence.” (RB 138.) While in Ramirez, this Court held that

the defendant’s absence from the penalty phase proceedings did not require a

2 Cf. Drope, supra, 420 U.S. at pp. 180-181.
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competency hearing, it did not hold that such absence is irrelevant as a factor
in determining whether or not a doubt of a defendant’s competence exists.
Again, respondent confuses the question of the sufficiency of a piece of
evidence standing alone with the question of the relevance of that evidence to
the determination of whether substantial evidence supports a doubt of
competence. (See, e.g., Drope, supra, 420 U.S. at pp. 180-181.) .

As is demonstrated in Argument IV in the opening brief and below, the
record establishes that appellant did not have a rational understanding of the
role the sanity phase played in the prosecution’s attempt to obtain a death
sentence against appellant. Appellant absented himself from the sanity phase
at the same time his mental state was apparently changing, affecting his ability
to rationally consult with counsel, which resulted in defense counsel declaring
a doubt of his competence. This supports the conclusion that his aLbsence from
the sanity phase was a symptom of increasing irrationality and incompetence.

Respondent argues that a defense counsel’s declaration standing alone
is not determinative of the need for a competency hearing, citing People v.
Lewis, supra, 43 Cal.4th at p. 525. (RB 138.) Although this Court in Lewis
stated that, “although a defense counsel’s opinion that his client is incompetent
is entitled to some weight, such an opinion alone does not compel the trial
court to hold a competency hearing unless the court itself has expressed a
doubt as to the defendant’s competence” (43 Cal.4th at p. 525), the United
States Supreme Court has stated that “it is nevertheless true that judges must
depend to some extent on counsel to bring issues into focus.” (Drope, supra,
420 U.S. at pp. 176-177.)

Although we do not, of course, suggest that courts must accept
without question a lawyer’s representations concerning the
competence of his client, see United States ex rel. Rizzi v.
Follette, 367 F.2d 559, 561 (CA2 1966), an expressed doubt in
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that regard by one with ‘the closest contact with the defendant,’
Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 391, 86 S.Ct. at 845 (1966)
(Harlan, J., dissenting), is unquestionably a factor which should
be considered.

(Drope, supra, 420 U.S. at p. 177, fn. 13.) There is no authority suggesting
that the trial court may arbitrarily ignore such a declaration of doubt, as the
trial court did here, particularly when that declaration is not standing alone.

Respondent also relies on the trial court’s reference to defense counsel’s
declaration of a doubt as a “strategic plan” (45RT 5493) as if such a
characterization constitutes some reason to dismiss or wholly disregard
counsel’s declaration of a doubt as to appellant’s competence. Neither the trial
court nor respondent has suggested what “strategic plan” was involved, or how
it might undercut the significance of defense counsel’s declaration of a doubt
that appellant remained competent. Moreover, as set forth in the Introduction,
ante, the trial court’s stated basis for saying the declaration of doubt was a
“strategic plan” is contradicted by the record.

Respondent again argues that the trial court was entitled to rely on its
own assessment of appellant’s behavior, citing Ramos, 34 Cal.4th at p.509 and
Lewis, 43 Cal.4th at p. 526. (RB 138-139.) As explained in the opening brief
and above, however, é trial court’s subjective belief that a defendant is
competent must give way in the face of substantial evidence raising a doubt of
appellant’s behavior. In addition, in the present case, the trial court applied an
erroneous legal standard, apparently under the impression that competence
proceedings need be conducted only where the trial court itself was convinced
that appellant was in fact incompetent. Respondent offers no defense of the
trial court’s legal error. Respondent does, however, minimize the import of
one statement by the trial court in response to defense counsel’s declaration of

a doubt as to appellant’s competence. The court stated, “Well, at this point
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there’s no requirement — no need for him to cooperate with you. We’re merely
waiting for the verdict to come in the sanity phase.” (36RT 4524; see AOB
160-161.) Respondent suggests it was just a “passing observation.” (RB 139.)
Whether or not it was a “passing observation,” it was a legally incorrect
statement, made in open court in appellant’s presence, and at the very least
undermined the attorney-client relationship. (See Arg. IV, VI.)

There also is no basis in the record for dismissing such a clearly
erroneous statement as a mere “passing observation.” The observation
revealed the trial court’s erroneous understanding of the constitutional
principles underlying its duty to assess the evidence supporting defense
counsel’s declaration of a doubt, and to then suspend proceedings and conduct
an inquiry into appellant’s competence. Moreover, it was but one of such
revelatory statements. (See AOB 168-169.)

Respondent relies upon the trial court’s refusal to declare a doubt of
appellant’s competence “on the basis that appellant had been well behaved and
‘extremely intelligent’ throughout the trial. (36RT 4534-4535.)” (RB 139.)
However, as explained in the opening brief, the basis of the trial court’s ruling
betrayed a misunderstanding of the applicable law and of the evidence. (See
AOB 175-179; Odle, supra, 238 F.3d 1084.) In addition, the trial court was
aware of defense counsel’s efforts to “manage” appellant in the courtroom.
(See AOB 178-179, fn. 62.)

3. There was substantial evidence raising
a doubt that appellant was competent
after defense counsel’s declaration of a
doubt, including at the time appellant
withdrew his NGI plea and throughout
the penalty phase at which he
represented himself

Respondent’s characterizations of the additional evidence upon which
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appellant relies omit substantial aspects of that evidence, and are, to that
degree, misleading. Respondent minimizes the substantial evidence which
arose after defense counsel’s declaration of a doubt, suggesting that it is
merely evidence that “appellant’s actions may certainly have been ill-advised.”
(RB 140.) Of course, almost any action by a capital defendant which is
contrary to his best interests as a result of a lack of a rational understanding of
the proceedings and/or an inability to rationally assist counsel in the conduct
of'the defense could be described as “ill-advised.” Such a glib characterization
does not answer the factual and legal bases of appellant’s arguments as
presented in the opening brief. (See Introduction, ante.)

Respondent minimizes the significance of the evidence of appellant’s
irrational or delusional beliefs, decisions, and actions, by dismissively referring
to them in such terms as “may certainly have been ill-advised,” “merely
foolish,” “may have ultimately proven to be unwise” (RB 140) and “misguided
or unwise.” (RB 141.) However, these characterizations are not factually
supported by the record as discussed more fully in the opening brief. Again,
respondent’s piecemeal treatment of each fact, removed from the context of all
the evidence raising a doubt of appellant’s competence, must be rejected.

Respondent’s reliance on an adage that “a lawyer Who represents
himself has a fool for a client” (RB 140) sheds no light on the question of
whether or not appellant’s decisions and actions were merely foolish decisions
and actions by a rational person, or whether those decisions and actions are
more reasonably understood as consistent with the substantial evidence of his
psychiatric, psychological, cognitive, neurological, and developmental deficits
and dysfunctions demonstrated by the substantial expert and record evidence.

Respondent quotes the prosecutor, who said during the penalty phase

that she was not able to understand why appellant did some of the things he
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did, but that appellant “seem[ed] to believe he has a strategy” under which
“things that don’t appear to help him” would “serve him in the end.” (RB 140;
43RT 5190.) Of course, just as the prosecutor failed to understand appellant’s
conduct and could not articulate any rational basis for the things appellant did,
respondent similarly is unable to articulate any rational basis for appellant’s
actions and decisions. Respondent avoids the arguments actually made in the
opening brief and relies instead on simplistic and conclusory characterizations
that appellant’s self-representation was “more-than-effective,” and
“demonstrated rational decision-making in a clear ability to comprehend all the
proceedings.” (RB 141.) A comprehensive review of the record demonstrates
the contrary.

Respondent dismissively characterizes appellant’s decision to withdraw
his plea of NGI, saying it “may have ultimately proven to be unwise.” (RB
140.) As demonstrated ‘in the opening brief, the decision to withdraw his plea
of NGI did not “ultimately” prove to “unwise;.” the withdrawal of the plea was
contemporaneously and instantaneously irrational. To say it may have been
merely “unwise,” is to totally ignore the context in which the plea was
withdrawn, the refusal of defense counsel to consent to the change of plea,
counsel’s reiteration of a doubt that appellant was competent, the irrationality
of the reasons appellant gave for the change of plea, and all the evidence that
demonstrated that appellant’s understanding of the proceedings and his ability
to assist counsel in his defense were substantially distorted by his psychiatric,
psychological, neurological, cognitive, and developmental deficits and
dysfunctions.

Respondent argues that a review of the “many specific and coherent
legal arguments made by appellant, his examination of witnesses, and his

arguments to the jury can leave no doubt that he perfectly well understood the
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proceedings against him.” (RB 140.) To the contrary, his decision-making,
his choice of witnesses, his examination of witnesses, and his argument to the
jury are more reasonably understood as demonstrating a view that the
courtroom proceedings were somehow related to a school classroom,?' and that
he had a delusional understanding of the issues at hand even if he understood
the basic stage directions of the play. His misunderstanding of the role of the
judge and of the prosecutor arose repeatedly, e.g. his references to the judge
as “the Lady of the court” (AOB 146); his “compliment” in comparing Judge
Schempp to Judge Judy (15RT 1943); his argument to the jury that a trial is a
show, and that they were to decide penalty by determining which side’s case
they liked better (48RT 5925-5926); his request that the prosecutor, Ms. |
Samuels, give him a grade on how well he did representing himself, and a
request to the trial court that Samuels be ordered to do so. (SORT 6144-6145.)
Even if appellant understood the basic structure of a trial, he had
fundamental impairments in understanding people, their reactions, their body
language and facial mannerisms, how they thought, and how the jﬁrors would
~ make the decisions. As aresult, his decisionmaking, including decisions about

what witnesses to call, what questions to ask, what arguments to make, was

2t 26RT 3369-3370; 35RT 4417; 48RT 5925-5926; Exhibit 41. This
interpretation perhaps best explains appellant’s use of “permission slips”
regarding questions about presentation of his defense case at the penalty phase.
(33RT 4164-4178; 37RT 4623-4624; 38RT 4662; 40RT 4704-4709,
4747-4805; 41RT 4813-4828.)

A permission slip in the United States is a form that a school or
other organization sends home with a student to a parent in
which the parent provides authorization for minor children to.
travel under the auspices of the school or organization for some
type of event, such as a field trip.

(http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Permission_slip.)
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fundamentally impaired by mental illness and cognitive dysfunction.

At best, respondent’s argument raises a factual conflict which is
insufficient to overcome the substantial evidence raising a doubt about
appellant’s competence to stand trial. This conflict should have been resolved
by suspension of the proceedings, appointment of appropriate experts, and
conduct of a jury trial on the question. Again, respondent fails to respond to
the authorities cited in the opening brief establishing that factual conflicts are
insufficient to defeat the trial court’s constitutional and statutory duty to
conduct competence proceedings.

C. Conclusion

As demonstrated in the opening brief, the record contains substantial
evidence from expert declarations and testimony; from defense counsel’s
stated concerns regarding, and eventual declaration of doubt of, appellant’s
competence; and from appellant’s own behavior, decisions (such as
withdrawal of his NGI pleas to Counts Two and Three), testimony, and finally
the conduct of his defense at the penalty phase, that raise a reasonable doubt
that appellant was competent to stand trial.

Respondent does not establish any basis supported by the record for
concluding that the expert declarations and testimony are factually incorrect
or not worthy of belief concerning appellant’s mental illness, brain damage,
developmental disability, and cognitive impairments. Respondent fails to offer
any reason why the expert declarations and testimony are no& relevant to
evaluating the rationality of appellant’s understanding of the proceedings, his
understanding of the decisions he would be required to make, the rationality
of the decisions he did make, and the rationality of his conduct of his defense
at the penalty phase. Respondent does not explain why the expert opinion in

the record does not, alone or in context with the other evidence, raise a
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reasonable doubt of appellant’s competence.

On this record, under the specific facts before the trial court, the failure
of the trial court to declare a doubt deprived appellant of due process and a fair
trial, and requires reversal of the enﬁre judgment.

Because the trial court failed to hold a hearing in this case, in the face
of substantial evidence of appellant’s incompetence, appellant was tried while
incompetent; the error is structural and requires reversal of the entire
judgment. (Rohan v. Woodford, supra, 334 F.3d at p. 818, citing Satterwhite
v. Texas (1988) 486 U.S. 249, 256-257.) In the alternative, the penalty
judgment must be reversed and the matter remanded for reinstatement of
appellant’s plea of not guilty by reason of insanity and retrial of the issue of
sanity.

//
//
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IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING APPELLANT TO
WITHDRAW HIS PLEA OF NOT GUILTY BY REASON OF
INSANITY

In the opening brief, appellant explained that allowing appellant to
withdraw his NGI pleas to Counts Two and Three without defense counsel’s
consent amounted to a violation of Penal Code section 1081. (AOB 191-194.)
Additionally, appellant demonstrated that, under the circumstances of this case,
the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the withdrawal of the NGI plea
without inquiring adequately into appellant’s competence or taking appropriate
steps to ensure that appellant adequately and rationally understood the nature
and consequences of his decision and that the decision was rationally made.
(AOB 195-209.) Appellant demonstrated that he had been given erroneous
advice by the trial court concerning the sanity phase before he withdrew his
NGI plea (AOB 199-202); the advisements given to appellant by the
prosecutor failed to identify possible outcomes clearly and misstated potential
outcomes of a sanity retrial (AOB 198-199); the withdrawal of the NGI pleas
in this circumstance itself raised doubts about appellant’s competence (AOB
202-203); the trial court erroneously failed to inquire into the basis for defense
counsel’s refusal to consent to withdrawal of the pleas (AOB 195, 204-205),
and prejudicially interfered with the attorney-client relationship (AOB 203-
204); and the trial court failed to take into consideration the overwhelming
expert testimony that appellant had substantial limitations due to mental
iliness, developmental disability, and brain damage. (AOB 197-198, 205.)

Appellant demonstrated that the trial court’s inquiry into appellant’s
understanding of the nature and consequences of his decision was inadequate

under People v. Merkouris (1956) 46 Cal.2d 540 and People v. Redmond
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(1971) 16 Cal.App.3d 931, and failed to meet federal constitutional standards.
(AOB 185-186, 195-198, 205-208.)

Without addressing the particular and peculiar circumstances of the
present case upon which appellant relies, respondent argues that section 1081
does not apply to the withdrawal of an NGI plea and that an NGI plea is not
a plea of guilty. (RB 154-156.)

Respondent also argues that appellant’s withdrawal of the NGI pleas
was valid under Merkouris because of the claimed absence of “severe
unresolved doubts” about appellant’s competence. Respondent bases this
claim on the 1984 competence adjudication after appellant’s first trial, on
appellant’s ability to verbalize aspects of his case articulately, and on the trial
court’s refusal to order an assessment of appellant’s competence. (RB 159.)

Respondent also argues that appellant was adequately informed
concerning, and adequately comprehended, the circumstances and
consequences of withdrawal of the NGI pleas (RB 161-164); that his reasons
for doing so were rational, if not wise (RB 164); and that defense counsel’s
refusal to consent to appellant’s withdrawal of the NGI pleas was merely a
“tactical” disagreement. (RB 165.) Finally, respondent argues that any
erroneous advice to appellant from the prosecutor or the trial court was
harmless because under the totality of circumstances, appellant’s withdrawal

of the NGI pleas was voluntary and intelligent. (RB 165-166.)*

22 In a footnote, respondent reprises the argument that, “because this
claim bears on appellant’s mental defense, which he admitted in the trial court
was false, appellate relief is unwarranted.” (RB 153, fn. 75.) As demonstrated
in the Introduction, ante, this argument is without merit.
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A. The Trial Court Erred By Allowing Appellant To
Withdraw His NGI Plea

1. Allowing appellant to withdraw his
insanity plea without the representation
or consent of counsel violated the
protections against ill-advised pleas
meant to prevent erroneous imposition
of the death penalty

In responding to appellant’s argument that the trial court violated Penal
Code section 1018 by accepting the withdrawal of appellant’s NGI plea
without the consent of defense counsel, respondent fails to address several
arguments actually made and authorities presented in the opening brief.

First, respondent quotes and addresses only a portion of section 1018
itself. Respondent represents, incorrectly, that the selected quote is the only
relevant — and dispositive — part of the statute as it relates to this issue. While
the sentence from section 1018 which respondent chose to quote is relevant,”
appellant also relies upon another relevant part of section 1018, the last
sentence in the statute, which states that “This section shall be liberally
construed to affect these objects and to promote justice.” (See AOB 184, 193;
see also AOB 216, 220-221.) Respondent’s brief does not addresses this
language.

Having thus ignored relevant statutory language, respondent further

ignores appellant’s argument and authorities relevant to the interpretation and

application of that statutory language. In the opening brief, appellant

2 «“No plea of guilty of a felony for which the maximum punishment
is death, or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, shall be
received from a defendant who does not appear with counsel, nor shall that
plea be received without the consent of the defendant’s counsel.” (See RB
154.)
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demonstrated that this Court has long recognized that section 1018’s
preclusion of a plea of guilty to a capital offense without counsel’s consent
reflects and implements this state’s interests in preventing unjust convictions
in capital cases driven by a defendant’s ill-considered, uninformed or
unreliable concession of guilt or waiver of a defense. (See People v. Chadd
(1981) 28 Cal.3d 739, 748-751 (Chadd); cf. People v. Vaughn (1973) 9 Cal.3d
321, 327.) The restrictions on accepting a plea or changes of piea regarding
capital murder were “an effort to eliminate the arbitrariness that Furman [v.
Georgia (1972) 408 U.S. 238] found inherent in the operation of prior death
penalty legislation.” (Chadd, supra, 28 Cal.3d at p. 750.) The requirement of
the consent of counsel protects the paramount interest of the state and the
defendant, in preventing disproportional or wrongful convictions and death
sentences in capital cases. These interests are among the “objects” which
section 1018 is intended to “affect.” (See Pen. Code §1018; AOB 184, 192-
193.) Yet respondent nowhere addresses, much less challenges, these points.

Rather than address the arguments made and the authorities presented
in the opening brief, respondent mischaracterizes the argument appellant has
made, contending that “[t]he argument rests entirely on the proposition that the
withdrawal of an insanity plea is the same as a ‘plea of guilty of a felony.””
(RB 154.) Appellant’s actual argument is that under the particular
circumstances presented at the time of the withdrawal of appellant 's NGl plea,
that withdrawal was the functional equivalent of a guilty plea to second degree
murder and an admission of the special circumstance, and the policies and
interests underlying section 1018’s requirement of counsel’s consent to a guilty
plea to a capital offense apply equally and fully to the withdrawal of
appellant’s NGI plea without the consent of counsel.

Appellant does not seek to change the terms of section 1018 as it relates

93




to the consent of counsel regarding pleas in capital cases, but to construe those
terms in this instance as the express language of the statute requires, liberally,
so as to affect the objects and interests intended to be protected thereby, and
to promote justice. Instead of addressing this argument, respondent relies on
interpretations and characterizations of NGI pleas in the abstract, without
consideration of the circumstances in the present case.

Respondent focuses on the personal nature of the entry of an NGI plea,
citing People v. Medina (1990) 51 Cal.3d 870, 899-900 and People v. Gauze
(1975) 15 Cal.3d 709, 717-718, 725. Appellant acknowledged that point
(AOB 184), but that legal doctrine does not end the analysis or answer the
issue presented by this case. Rather, once entered, and especially once a trial
— capital or not, guilt or sanity — has commenced, a change of plea, including
the withdrawal of an NGI plea, is not guaranteed, but is subject to the sound
discretion of the trial court. The withdrawal of an NGI plea after a jury is
unable to reach a unanimous verdict on that plea is not left to the whim, desire,
or delusional system of the defendant; the defendant does not have, at that
point, an unfettered right to withdraw the NGI plea.

Appellant cited People v. Marshall (1929) 99 Cal.App. 224, 227-228
(approved in People v. Marshall (1930) 209 Cal. 540) for the proposition that
where both a not-guilty and an NGI plea have been entered, a guilt verdict is
not complete until the NGI plea has been determined. (AOB 182-183, 192.)
Respondent acknowledges the citation to Marshall. (RB 154.) However,
without otherwise addressing the reasoning or holding of Marshall itself,
respondent dismisses the proposition with the summary conclusion that
“appellant’s description of a guilt verdict as ‘incomplete’ until a sanity
determinati